

Agenda Regulatory Committee Meeting October 28, 2019 Board Room 4 1:00 p.m.

Call to Order - Jim Werth, Ph.d, Committee Chair

- Welcome and Introductions
- Emergency Egress Procedures
- Mission of the Board

Approval of Minutes

Regulatory Committee Meeting - October 29, 2018*

Page 4

Public Comment

The Committee will not receive comment on any pending regulation process for which a public comment period has closed or any pending or closed complaint or disciplinary matter.

Unfinished Business

EPPP-Part II

Page 7

• APA Master's Level Accreditation

Page 20

Professional Wills

New Business

• Guidance Document on Use of Social Media

Page 42

Next Meeting - January 27, 2020

Meeting Adjournment

*Requires a Committee Vote

This information is in DRAFT form and is subject to change. The official agenda and packet will be approved by the Board at the Regulatory Committee meeting. One printed copy of the agenda packet will be available for the public to view at the Board Meeting pursuant to Virginia Code Section 2.2-3707(F).

PERIMETER CENTER CONFERENCE CENTER

EMERGENCY EVACUATION OF BOARD AND TRAINING ROOMS (Script to be read at the beginning of each meeting.)

PLEASE LISTEN TO THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS ABOUT EXITING THESE PREMISES IN THE EVENT OF AN EMERGENCY.

In the event of a fire or other emergency requiring the evacuation of the building, alarms will sound.

When the alarms sound, leave the room immediately. Follow any instructions given by Security staff

Board Room 4

Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room.

(Point) Upon exiting the room, turn RIGHT. Follow the corridor to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.

Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot. Wait there for further instructions.



MISSION STATEMENT

Our mission is to ensure safe and competent patient care by licensing health professionals, enforcing standards of practice, and providing information to health care practitioners and the public.

Virginia Board of Psychology Regulatory Committee Meeting October 29, 2018 Draft Minutes

Time and Place:	The Regulatory Committee of the Virginia Board of Psychology ("Committee") convened for a meeting on Monday, October 29, 2018 at the Department of Health Professions (DHP), Perimeter Center, 9960 Mayland Drive, Henrico, Virginia Board Room 4.
Presiding:	James Werth, Jr., Ph.D., ABPP, LCP, Chairperson
Committee Members Present:	John D. Ball, Ph.D., ABPP, LCP Herbert Lee Stewart, Ph.D., LCP Susan Brown Wallace, Ph.D., LCP, LSP
	With four (4) committee members present, a quorum was established.
Committee Members Absent:	Jennifer Little, Citizen Member
Staff Present:	Jaime Hoyle, Executive Director Jennifer Lang, Deputy Executive Director Elaine Yeatts, Senior Policy Analyst
Call to Order:	Dr. Werth called the meeting to order at 1:02 p.m. and read the board's mission statement and emergency evacuation instructions. Board members, staff, and members of the public introduced themselves.
Ordering of the Agenda:	The Committee accepted the agenda as presented.
Approval of Minutes:	Dr. Ball made a motion to approve the minutes. The motion was seconded by Dr. Wallace and the motion passed unanimously.
Public Comment:	Public comment was made by Bruce Keeney with

the Virginia Academy of Clinical

Psychologists, who made suggestions regarding the Draft Guidance Document on Assessment Titles and Signatures.

Guidance Document on Assessment Titles and Unfinished Business: Signatures

The Committee reviewed the draft document and made changes to include clarification that this document applies to school psychologists, and school psychologists-limited, licensed by the Board of Psychology. Dr. Ball made a motion to recommend the amended document to the full board. The motion was seconded by Dr. Wallace and passed unanimously.

Guidance Document on Telepsychology

The Committee reviewed the draft guidance document and discussed proposed changes, including changing the name of the document to "Electronic Communication and Telepsychology." Dr. Ball made a motion to recommend the amended document to the full board. The motion was seconded by Dr. Wallace and passed unanimously.

Authority to Issue Temporary License

The Committee discussed the benefits and concerns of issuing resident level licenses, and decided that the issue needs more research and further discussion before a decision can be made.

Professional Wills

The Committee will begin to review the requirement for professional wills in other jurisdictions and determine if the matter should be addressed by this board.

Masters Level Practice of Psychology

The Committee discussed the APA's consideration of accrediting Master's level psychology programs. No action is required by the Committee at this time.

ASPPB and EPPP

ASPPB has discussed making the different levels of the EPPP voluntary rather than required. No action is required by the Committee at this time.

New Business:

Next Meeting:	The next committee meeting will be held on January 22, 2019.	
Adjournment:	The meeting adjourned at 4:01 p.m.	
James Werth, Jr. Ph.D., ABPP, LCP Virginia Board of Psychology	, Committee Chairperson Date	
Jaime Hoyle, JD, Executive Director Virginia Board of Psychology	Date	











Exam Applicants/Students

Early Career Psychologists

Psychologists

Training Directors

Public

Regulatory Board Access

About Us ◀

EPPP (Part 2-Skills)

Thank you for visiting the EPPP (Part 2-Skills) Information Page. A component of the EPPP, this is a computer based examination which assesses the skills needed for entry level licensure. On this web page you will find substantial information about the development (including its competency based foundation) and current status of the EPPP (Part 2-Skills). The exam is scheduled to launch in January 2020.

EPPP (Part 2-Skills) INFORMATION

Why Become An Early Adopter

Exam Overview

Why?

Format of the Exam

Validity

Brief History of the Psychology

SAMPLE ITEMS

Comprehensive Overview

COMPETENCY INFORMATION

Job Task Analysis Report (2016)

ASPPB Competencies Expected (2017)

Competency Movement in

EPPP (Part 2-Skills)

Candidate Handbook (Coming Soon)

My Profile

- » Profile Home
- » Manage Profile
- » Groups
- » Messages
- » Membership Info

» Refer a Friend

FAQs & Latest Newsmore

8/12/2019

Registration Open for ASPPB's 59th Annual Meeting

4/23/2019

PSYPACT becomes Operational

3/18/2019

Call for ASPPB Volunteers

ASPPB Calendar

more

10/15/2019 » 10/16/2019 BOD Meeting - Minneapolis, MN

10/16/2019 » 10/20/2019 Annual Meeting - Minneapolis,

10/24/2019 » 10/27/2019 ExC 2 Meeting - TBD

11/8/2019 » 11/10/2019

4/23/2020 » 4/26/2020 ASPPB 35th Midyear Meeting -



One Exam, Two Parts: **EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge) and EPPP (Part 2-Skills)**

Early adoption phase of the EPPP (Part 2-Skills)

- What is the 'early adoption' phase? Q:
- Starting on January 1, 2020, licensing boards will have the opportunity to become an A: Early Adopter of The EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge) and EPPP (Part 2-Skills).
- Can I take the EPPP (Part 2-Skills) if I haven't taken the EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge) Q:
- No. The EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge) will become the prerequisite for the EPPP (Part 2-Skills). A:
- I've already passed the EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge), do I have to take the EPPP (Part 2-Skills)? Q:
- ASPPB is recommending that candidates who pass the EPPP before December 31st, 2019, A: be exempt from taking the EPPP (Part 2-Skills).
- I haven't passed the EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge) yet, will I have to take the EPPP (Part 2-Skills)? Q:
- A: After January 1, 2020, if you are applying for licensure in an early adoption jurisdiction, then, yes, you will be required to take both parts of the exam.
- Who will approve me to sit for the EPPP (Part 2-Skills)? Q:
- A: Your state or provincial licensing board will make all decisions about eligibility.
- Do I need to score a 500 on each exam? Q:
- ASPPB's recommended passing score for both portions of the exam is a 500. A:
- How do I know if my state or province is an early adopter? Q:
- Check with your licensing board, and check our website for updates. A:

The early adoption period is: **January 1, 2020 until December 31, 2021**

Candidates from early adopter jurisdictions will be eligible for a reduced exam fee for the EPPP (Part 2-Skills) portion: (the EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge) fee will remain \$600):

*not including test center or jurisdictional fees

After the Beta Exam closes. until 12/31/2021

*not including test center or jurisdictional fees

*not including test center or jurisdictional fees





One Exam, Two Parts: EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge) and EPPP (Part 2-Skills)

The EPPP will be a two-part exam that more thoroughly assesses the totality of competency of candidates for licensure. This will include:



EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge)

The EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge) is the foundational knowledge exam that is presently in place in all jurisdictions.

This is a critical assessment as it provides licensure boards with information on their candidates general knowledge of psychology. This includes important psychological theories in areas such as cognition, affect, development and general knowledge of intervention and assessment, research, factors impacting psychological functioning as well as many other aspects of the foundational knowledge that psychologists are taught in graduate school.

This will become the prerequisite for the skills-based portion of the EPPP.



EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge): Domains and Weights

- 1. Biological Bases of Behavior (10%)
- 2. Cognitive-Affective Bases of Behavior (13%)
- 3. Social and Cultural Bases of Behavior (11%)
- 4. Growth and Lifespan Development (12%)
- 5. Assessment and Diagnosis (16%)
- 6. Treatment, Intervention, Prevention and Supervision (15%)
- 7. Research Methods and Statistics (7%)
- 8: Ethical/Legal/Professional Issues (16%)



EPPP (Part 2-Skills)

Starting January 2020, the EPPP (Part 2-Skills) will be used to evaluate the skills of a candidate applying for licensure in Psychology.

This skills-based assessment includes questions about applied, real world situations that psychologists face in practice. This provides valuable information to licensing board as it assesses the candidate's ability to show what they would DO in an applied setting. This has never been assessed through a universal standard across different jurisdictions.

The EPPP (Part 2-Skills) will assess the following areas:



EPPP (Part 2-Skills): Domains and Weights

- 1. Scientific Orientation (6%)
- 2. Assessment and Intervention (33%)
- 3. Relational Competence (16%)
- 4. Professionalism (11%)
- 5. Ethical Practice (17%)
- 6. Collaboration, Consultation, Supervision (17%)

Visit www.asppb.net for information on our other programs:

CPQ

Certificate of Professional Qualification in Psychology

PSYPACT www.psypact.org

IPC

Interjurisdictional Practice Certificate

EPPP

Score Transfers

PLUS

Psychology Licensing
Universal System

PEP

Psychopharmacology Exam for Psychologists





One Exam, Two Parts: EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge) and EPPP (Part 2-Skills)



Why is the EPPP (Part 2-Skills) needed?

Psychology and most regulated professions have embraced the move to competency and the assessment of competence. Until now, the universal standard across all jurisdictions has been the EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge). This has served its purpose very well for over 50 years. However, adding the EPPP (Part 2-Skills) will provide a more thorough assessment of competence.

Skills assessment has been left to each individual jurisdiction to determine based on their own rules. This is most often done by requiring a number of supervised hours, oral examinations, and letters of recommendations. All of these methods have known reliability concerns.

Licensing Boards are charged with ensuring that candidates approved for licensure are competent to practice. Many jurisdictions would like better information about the skill set of their candidates. The EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge) allows candidates to demostrate a universal standard of foundational knowledge. The EPPP (Part 2-Skills) will provide a valid, reliable and legally defensible measure for regulators to assess their candidates' demonstration of a universal standard of skills.

Jurisdictions interested in adopting the EPPP (Part 2-Skills) are encouraged to contact Dr. Matt Turner at mturner@asppb.org





One Exam, Two Parts: EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge) and EPPP (Part 2-Skills)



Format of the EPPP (Part 2-Skills)

The EPPP (Part 2-Skills) provides information on candidate understanding of how to proceed in applied situations. This is done by presenting case situations, or real world information, in a variety of item formats including:

Multiple Choice: Candidate must choose the best choice of 3 responses.

Multiple Choice/ Candidate will be allowed to choose more than one response Multiple Response: from a series of possible answers. For example, select 2 of 5 options.

Scenarios: Presents information from an applied situation. Scenarios have up

to 3 "Exhibits" which present additional information. This can be an animation, a description of an interview, a test protocol, or other data that adds information. Each Exhibit can have up to 5 questions

that pertain to that part of the scenario.

Point and Click: A graphical image is presented (ie. A test protocol, a business card,

an advertisement, a letter, etc.) and the candidate may select one or more areas on the image to indicate a response to the question.

Drag and Drop: Matching multiple appropriate stimuli on the left side of the

screen to an appropriate response on the right side of the screen.

The EPPP (Part 2-Skills):

Questions: 170

Exam Time: 4 hr 15 min

Exam Breakdown:

Multiple Choice or

Multiple Choice Multiple Response: 45%

Scenario Based Questions: 45%

Other Item Types: 10%





One Exam, Two Parts: **EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge) and EPPP (Part 2-Skills)**



✓ Validity of the EPPP (Part 2-Skills)

Because the EPPP (Part 2-Skills) is a new assessment, ASPPB has received many questions regarding the validity of the exam. The process of development of both the EPPP (Part 1-Knowledge) and the EPPP (Part 2-Skills) follows a rigid content validation methodology that complies with the Guidelines for the Standards in Educational Testing suggested by American Psychological Association (APA), American Educational Research Association (AERA), and the National Council on Measurement in Education (NCME).

Overview of the Process

Job Task Analysis (JTA) - A comprehensive study that involves Subject Matter Experts (SMEs) who are licensed psychologists that establish the knowledge and skills that are required for practice in psychology. The resulting requirements are sent via survey to thousands of licensed psychologists throughout the United States and Canada. The survey respondents indicate which areas are important for entry level practice. The results establish the test specifications (blue print) for the exam. Essentially, the expertise of licensed psychologists establishes what should be assessed by the exam.

Item Writing - SMEs write exam items according to the test specifications established from the JTA. All writers for the EPPP (Part 2-Skills) are licensed in the United States or Canada.

Item Review - Each item is reviewed by an Item Development Committee (IDC) SME in that Domain who is an established expert in that specific area. Items are reviewed in an iterative process between the reviewer and the item writer until the item is acceptable to both or discarded.

Exam Form Review - Each item is again reviewed prior to being placed on an exam by the Examination Committee. This committee is comprised of 10 SMEs who are psychologists that have particular expertise in each of the domains on the exam and represent various areas of psychology practice and training. Items that have been approved by the IDC are again reviewed for accuracy, relevancy to practice, clarity, and freedom from bias, among other factors.

Psychometric Review - Once approved by the Examination Committee, each item is pretested (or beta tested) prior to being an active item that is scored item on an exam. Items that do not perform well during pretesting, according to psychometric standards, are not included on a candidate's overall scores.

Standard Setting - The pass point of the exam is established though a rigorous review process called a standard setting. This involves a committee of SMEs who are licensed psychologists, most of whom are typically early career psychologists. These SMEs review the exam form item by item and provide rating data on difficulty. The data is analyzed to determine the appropriate pass point which represents the minimal knowledge or skills required for entry level practice.

These multiple levels of review by Psychologists and the ongoing analysis of psychometric data ensures that the examination is accurate, relevant, valid and legally defensible.



A Brief History of the Competency Movement in Psychology



The Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards

March 2016

A Brief History of the Competency Movement in Psychology

This paper provides a brief overview of the development and integration of competency in United States and Canadian psychology.

Early in the development of professional psychology in the United States, there was limited discussion about what constituted a competent psychologist. At the end of World War II in 1945, the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs sought information from the American Psychological Association (APA) about educational programs that train psychologists to practice (Commission on Accreditation (CoA), 2006). Within a year, 22 programs were identified and de facto accreditation began in North America. In 1949, the Boulder conference for clinical psychology resulted in the Boulder Model of training to produce psychologists who were both scientists and practitioners (Raimy, 1950). This was the predominant model in psychology until 1973, when the Vail Model of clinical training was developed, focusing on the "practitioner-scholar" model of training (Korman, 1976). The Bolder and Vail models of training provide the primary philosophical frameworks today for the education of competent psychologists.

Likewise, in Canada, applied psychology training developed in the years after World War II, although clinical training occurred primarily at the Master's degree level. The Couchiching Conference in 1965 endorsed a scientist practitioner model of clinical training at the doctoral level and the whole field of psychology grew exponentially in that decade (Conway, 1984). However there continued to be regional and programmatic differences in both training models and degree types throughout Canada. It wasn't until 1984 that accreditation criteria were adopted by CPA, thus providing more standardization to the training curriculums.

At the end of World War II, psychology was not a regulated profession. In 1945 Connecticut was the first jurisdiction in the United States (Heiser, 1945) and Ontario in 1960 was the first province in Canada to develop laws to regulate the practice of psychology. Other states and provinces followed, some quickly and others more slowly, with the last state, Missouri, adopting licensure laws in 1977 and the last province, PEI in 1991. Although the mandate for all psychology boards and colleges is to license competent psychologists, currently the primary criteria employed in most jurisdictions in the United States and Canada to establish readiness to practice independently, is meeting education and hours of supervised professional experience requirements, as well as displaying foundational knowledge assessed by the EPPP, as opposed to the demonstration of specific skills in the practice of psychology.

The first major national initiative in the United States regarding the discussion of a competency model in psychology occurred in a 1986 National Council of Schools and Programs of Professional Psychology (NCSPP) (Bourg et al., 1987; Bourg, Bent, McHolland, & Stricker, 1989). Limited, but important changes in terms of the conceptualization of practice

competency (functional skills) occurred in the 1990s and early 2000s. In 1996, the APA Committee on Accreditation revised the Guidelines and Principles for Accreditation of Programs in Professional Psychology to emphasize training to competence, rather than the accumulation of supervised hours. In 1997, the Council of Counseling Psychology Training Programs and APA Division 17 created a new competency-based model for academic programs, and the 2001 Education Leadership Conference focused on developing an improved definition of the competencies psychologists should possess for independent practice.

The Competencies 2002: Future Directions in Education and Credentialing in Professional Psychology conference provided a major step forward for psychology to identify the core competencies for the practice of psychology and the means of training students to function competently. One conference workgroup developed the "culture of competence" framework (Roberts et al., 2005), and a second developed a useful competency model (Rodolfa et al., 2005) called the Competency Cube.

In 2001 (amended in 2004), the psychology regulators from the Canadian provinces and territories signed an agreement of mutual recognition to facilitate the mobility of qualified psychologists between Canadian jurisdictions and the establishment of core competencies required for licensure as a psychologist. The agreement provided qualified members of the profession with access to employment opportunities nationwide. The Canadian Mutual Recognition Agreement specifies a nationally agreed upon set of competencies for psychologists. These core competencies were established through an analysis of competencies developed by the APA and CPA accreditation criteria, and a review of competencies and other requirements set forth by the provinces (Edwards, 2000). The current Canadian Psychological Association (CPA) Accreditation Standards (5th revision, 2011) have been mapped onto these competencies.

The Competency Benchmarks Workgroup (Fouad et al., 2009) expanded the Rodolfa et al. Cube model and defined 15-core competencies fundamental to the practice of psychology. The Benchmarks Competency Workgroup itself recognized that its model was overly complicated for practical use by trainers (Fouad, 2009) and developed a revised six-competency cluster model (Hatcher et al., 2013).

In 2012 in response to the evolving landscape of education and training in psychology, and to requirements from the US Department of Education, the CoA decided to thoroughly review and revise their requirements for accreditation of Doctoral, internship and post-Doctoral programs (CoA, 2012). As a result the CoA began to develop the *Standards of Accreditation for Health Service Psychology (SoA)*. These Standards go into effect in January, 2017. Part of the new SoA and the accompanying Implementing Regulations include the concepts of "discipline specific knowledge" and "profession-wide competencies." Discipline specific knowledge refers

to the core knowledge base expected for all psychologists and profession-wide competencies refers to the areas of competence required for health service psychology.

Concomitantly, in 2010 the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards (ASPPB) formed a task force to begin an investigation into the possibility of developing a skills-based assessment mechanism to accompany the knowledge based exam that was already required for licensure in all jurisdictions in Canada and the United States. In 2014 ASPPB developed the ASPPB Competencies Expected at the Point of Licensure based on a practice analysis (ASPPB, 2010) and data from licensing and training communities. In early 2016, ASPPB began the process of a job task analysis to review and validate these competencies. The development of these competencies will provide the foundation for a skills based examination to be used in combination with the Examination for Professional Practice in Psychology. This skills-based exam will allow psychology boards (in the US) and colleges (in Canada) to better assess the competencies for independent practice as a psychologist.

Some of this overview was summarized from Rodolfa et al (2014). For a more complete abstract of the history of the competency movement in Psychology, please refer to Rodolfa et al (2014). For more information about the history of competencies movement, please refer to the reference list accompanying this document.

Reference List

- Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards (ASPPB). 2010. Study of the practice of licensed psychologists in the United States and Canada. Retrieved from http://www.asppb.net/resource/resmgr/EPPP /ASPPB PA July 2010.pdf
- Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards (ASPPB). (2014). ASPPB Competencies

 Expected at the Point of Licensure. Retrieved from

 http://www.asppb.net/?page=Guidelines
- Bourg, E., Bent, R., Callan, J., Jones, N., McHolland, J., & Stricker, G. (1987). Standards and evaluation in the education and training of professional psychologists: Knowledge, attitudes, and skills. Norman, OK: Transcript Press.
- Bourg, E., Bent, R., McHolland, J., & Stricker, G. (1989). Standards and evaluation in the education and training of professional psychologists: The National Council of Schools or Professional Psychology Mission Bay Conference. *American Psychologist*, 44, 66–72.
- Canadian Psychological Association. (2011). *Accreditation standards and procedures for doctoral programmes and internships in professional psychology*. Ottawa, Ontario, Canada: Author.
- Commission on Accreditation. (2006). *Guidelines and principles for accreditation of programs in professional psychology.* Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Commission on Accreditation (2012). Commission on Accreditation (CoA) Update August 2012. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/ed/accreditation/newsletter/2012-08.aspx
- Conway, J. (1984). Clinical psychology training in Canada: It's development, current status, and the prospects for accreditation. Canadian Psychology, 25:3, 177191.
- Edwards, H.P. (2000). A framework for the determination of competencies in relation to mobility for psychology under the AIT. PSWAIT, CPA, Ottawa.
- Fouad, N. A., Grus, C. L., Hatcher, R. L., Kaslow, N. L., Hutchings, P. S., Madson, M., Collins, F., & Crossman, R. E. (2009). Competency benchmarks: A developmental model for understanding and measuring competence in professional psychology. *Training and Education in Professional Psychology*, 3, S5–S29.
- Hatcher, R., Fouad, N., Grus Campbell, L., & McCutcheon, S. (2013) Competency Benchmarks: Practical Steps toward a culture of competence. *Training and Education in Professional Psychology*, 7, 84–91.

- Heiser, K. (1945). Certification of psychologists in Connecticut. *Psychological Bulletin*, 42, 624–630.
- Korman, M. (Ed.). (1976). Levels and patterns of professional training in psychology. Conference proceedings, Vail, Colorado, July, 25, 1973. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Raimy, V. (Ed.). (1950). Training in clinical psychology. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Roberts, M. C., Borden, K. A., Christiansen, M. D., & Lopez, S. J. (2005). Fostering a culture shift: Assessment of competence in the education and careers of professional psychologists. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 36, 355–361.
- Rodolfa, E., Bent, R., Eisman, E., Nelson, P., Rehm, L., & Ritchie, P. (2005). A cube model for competency development: Implications for psychology educators and regulators. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 36, 47–354.
- Rodolfa, E., Baker, J., DeMers, S., Hilson, A., Meck, D., Schaffer, J., Woody, S., Turner, M., Webb, C. (2014) Professional psychology competency initiatives: implications for training, regulation, and practice. *South African Journal of Psychology*, 1-15. DOI: 10.1177/0081246314522371

Articles Related to EPPP-Part 2

- http://thepsychologytimes.com/2018/05/14/asppb-presents-their-reasoning-for-eppp2-at-psychology-board/
- https://www.modernpsychologist.com/the-american-psychologist-licensure-crisis-explained-3/
- https://www.modernpsychologist.com/a-psychologists-ethical-examination-of-the-eppp/
- https://www.psychology.ca.gov/about_us/meetings/materials/20180629 eppp2_5
 .pdf
- http://www.gradpsychblog.org/tag/eppp2/#.XaUHum5FzA0

Report of the BEA Task Force to Develop a Blueprint for APA Accreditation of Master's Programs in Health Service Psychology

January 2019

Contents

Executive Summary	3
Introduction	5
Background	5
Work of the Task Force	6
Task Force Recommendations and Rationale	7
Proposed Scope of Accreditation	7
Possible Pathways to Establish an Accreditation System	10
Expertise Necessary	12
Additional Recommendations and Considerations	14
References	17
Appendix A: Call for Nominations	18
Appendix B: Task Force Roster	20
Appendix C: Glossary of Terms and Acronyms	22

Executive Summary

Recognizing that current issues and developments had risen to the level that APA should consider options related to master's level training and/or practice, in 2018 APA Council requested the Board of Educational Affairs (BEA) to appoint a Task Force that would be charged with developing a blueprint for APA to pursue for accreditation of master's programs in health service psychology (HSP; which currently includes the practice areas of clinical, counseling and school psychology). That Task Force was specifically asked to:

- Develop a statement that broadly delineates the scope of accreditation for training at the master's level as contrasted with the current scope at the doctoral level
- Prioritize possible pathways for APA to establish accreditation of master's programs in psychology, and
- •Identify the necessary expertise to comprise the accreditation decision making body.

The Task Force was convened in the summer of 2018. Subsequent to a series of calls and a meeting that included other relevant stakeholders (including senior staff from the National Association of School Psychologists [NASP], the Masters in Psychology and Counseling Accreditation Council [MPCAC], APA Office of Program Consultation and Accreditation [OPCA], and the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards [ASPPB]), the Task Force now recommends:

- That there be an expansion of the APA's current accreditation of doctoral programs in HSP, the APA Commission on Accreditation, to include accreditation of HSP master's programs within the United States and its territories,
- 2. That this expansion of the APA Commission on Accreditation (CoA) to include master's programs in HSP be undertaken as part of the continuum of education and training in HSP recommended by the Health Service Psychology Education Cooperative in 2013,
- 3. That the purpose of accreditation remains fundamentally unchanged: "to promote consistent quality and excellence in education and training in health service psychology" and to provide "tangible benefits for prospective students; the local, national, and international publics that are consumers of psychological services; and the discipline of psychology itself" (APA, CoA, 2015, p.3),
- 4. That accreditation in HSP programs at the master's level be conceptualized as focusing on core aspects of HSP (represented by the knowledge and competencies common to HSP—rather than accreditation specific to the practice areas of clinical, counseling or school psychology at the master's level, and
- 5. That HSP, regardless of accreditation at the master's or doctoral level remain defined as "the integration of psychological science and practice in order to facilitate human development and functioning" (APA CoA, 2015, p.1).

To implement such accreditation, the Task Force further recommends that the APA CoA also consider the following in order to implement accreditation at the master's level:

- 6. That master's programs providing education and training in the practice of health service psychology, regardless of program title, be considered for accreditation,
- 7. That pathways to recognize programs already accredited/approved by the Masters in Psychology and Counseling Accreditation Council (MPCAC) and the National Association of School Psychologists (NASP) be explored, and
- 8. That efficient processes for accredited master's programs, that are either imbedded within or affiliated with doctoral HSP programs and undergoing periodic review for re-accreditation be examined.

Finally, to ensure the fair and informed accreditation review of master's HSP programs, and to address the increased workload and expertise demands of reviewing master's HSP programs, the Task Force recommends an expansion in the membership of the Commission on Accreditation (CoA) to include:

- Two faculty members from terminal HSP master's degree programs,
- One faculty member from a program for whom master's training in HSP is prerequisite and/or foundationally integrated *en route* to the doctorate" (Jackson & Scheel, 2013, p. 10),
- Three seats nominated from appropriate master's training councils, such as the Council
 of Master's Counseling Training Programs (CMCTP), Trainers of School Psychologists
 (TSP), and the Council of Applied Master's Programs in Psychology (CAMPP)
- Two additional members to those appointed by BPA *Representing Practitioners of the Profession*—to include master's level practitioners in HSP in the areas of clinical psychology, counseling psychology, or school psychology, and representing independent/institutional practice.
- One student nominated by the American Psychological Association of Graduate Students (APAGS) from a terminal master's program or an integrated master's program, and
- A sufficient number of public members to assure quality from a public perspective and to meet the requirements of external accrediting agency recognition.

The report concludes with additional recommendations and considerations moving forward. These recommendations are intended to facilitate implementation of the proposed blueprint and address issues identified in the development of this report. These issues include clarification and differentiation of the competencies of successful graduates of accredited master's programs in HSP, identification of scope of practice and title, collaboration with existing accrediting organizations, and implications for APA membership of graduates from these programs.

Introduction

Background

In 2003, while writing on the future of accreditation, Beidel, Phillips and Zlotlow argued that, "The most contentious issue in accreditation is accreditation of programs that train students at the master's level" (Beidel, Phillips & Zlotlow; in Altmaier, 2003, p. 119). Indeed, although the APA has discussed the role of master's training in psychology through numerous initiatives dating as far back as 70 years (Woods, 1971), there has been a decided lack of consensus on this matter. Prior to its last reauthorization, APA's 1987 Model Act for Licensure of Psychologists recognized non-doctoral practice via section J Exemptions # 3, for appropriately credentialed school psychologists, however, other non-doctoral psychology practitioners were not recognized. In the absence of such consensus, the profession has continued to affirm the doctoral degree as the entry degree for independent practice—the position instantiated in the APA's most recent iteration of its model licensing act (APA, 2011). Relevant to this point, the Health Service Psychology Education Collaborative's most recent blueprint proposed a "seamless transition across levels (undergraduate through postdoctoral)" for education and training in HSP, while at the same time making no reference to training at the master's level — despite there being master's program representation within the collaborative (Health Service Psychology Education Collaborative, 2013).

In March 2018, the APA Council of Representatives took a historic step and approved (with 92% of those voting in favor) a motion to pursue "accreditation of master's level programs in psychology in areas where APA already accredits." In doing so, Council established that the general scope of APA's accreditation efforts be expanded from the accreditation of doctoral, internship, and postdoctoral programs in HSP to include master's level programs.

Council directed staff and governance, in particular the Board of Educational Affairs, to take steps to develop an accreditation system for master's level programs in HSP which includes clinical, counseling, and school psychology.

The decision to pursue accreditation of master's programs in HSP, which includes programs in clinical psychology, counseling psychology, school psychology, stemmed from a discussion at the August 2017 Council meeting. Council participated in small and large group discussions related to master's level training and practice in psychology. Drs. Jim Diaz-Granados and Katherine Nordal provided a presentation to Council on the history and current considerations related to master's education and practice, and the report of a 2016 summit convened by the APA Minority Fellowship Program on master's training in psychological practice. At the end of the discussion by Council in August 2017, the following statement was approved:

"Current issues and developments have risen to the level that APA should consider options related to master's level training and/or practice and that staff and governance should identify and explore options for APA to consider."

In late 2017, a survey and series of webinars were conducted to gather information from key stakeholders about considerations for APA to pursue different options related to master's level training in practice. Prior to the March 2018 Council meeting, webinars were offered to members of council about the possible options to inform the discussion that occurred during the face-to-face meeting.

After the March 2018 Council meeting, the Board of Educational Affairs (BEA) developed and disseminated a call for nominations (Appendix A) for a Task Force that would be charged with

developing a blueprint for APA to pursue accreditation of master's programs in health service psychology. Specifically, the charge of the Task Force included:

- •Developing a statement that broadly delineates the scope of accreditation for training at the master's level as contrasted with the current scope at the doctoral level.
- •Prioritizing possible pathways for APA to establish accreditation of master's programs in psychology. For example, what are the advantages and disadvantages of creating an entirely new accreditation system vs. expanding the scope of APA's current accrediting body. Included would be a review of how the accreditation body would (or would not) overlap with existing accreditation systems for individuals trained at the master's level in health service areas of psychology.
- •Identifying the necessary expertise to comprise the accreditation decision making body.

The call for nominations was widely disseminated on April 20, 2018, with a deadline date of May 11, 2018. Approximately 66 nominations were received that represented a broad range of expertise and diversity across many dimensions. In June, BEA approved an 8-person Task Force, including a chair, Dr. James Lichtenberg. BEA also appointed Dr. Celeste Malone as the BEA liaison to the group. The Task Force roster is included in Appendix B.

Work of the Task Force

The Task Force held monthly conference calls starting in July and met in-person November 30 – December 2, 2018. Initial discussions of the Task Force focused on understanding the current landscape of accreditation at the master's level with the intention that APA's efforts to undertake accreditation be collaborative to the extent possible.

To do so, the Task Force invited other relevant stakeholders to provide input to their discussions. Eric Rossen, PhD, NCSP and Director, Professional Development and Standards at the National Association of School Psychologists (NASP), participated in a Task Force conference call and provided Task Force members information about the NASP approval process and perhaps most importantly advised Task Force members about considerations of the potential impacts of APA accreditation of master's programs in school psychology. There has also been ongoing dialog with Patricia O'Connor, PhD, the Executive Director of the Masters in Psychology and Counseling Accreditation Council (MPCAC) via Task Force conference calls, email exchanges, and telephone calls with the Task Force chair and Education Directorate staff. An invitation to attend the face to face meeting of the Task Force was extended and accepted. Unfortunately, the executive director was ultimately unable to participate in person due to health reasons. Dr. O'Connor did participate in part of the face to face meeting via video conference. In addition, the Task Force sought input from the director of the APA Office of Program Consultation and Accreditation, Jacqueline Remondet Wall, PhD and Jacqueline Horn, PhD, representing the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards. Both Drs. Wall and Horn were present at the face to face meeting of the Task Force. Dr. Lynn Bufka served as a liaison to the Task Force from the APA Practice Directorate and attended the meeting.

The Task Force undertook its work by dividing into three small groups, each focused on one aspect of the charge. Each subgroup developed options related to their piece of the charge, formulated considerations both positive and negative associated with each option, and ultimately made a recommendation as to the best course of action. Subgroup work was presented to the larger group for discussion and feedback on conference calls and at the face to face meeting where final decisions were made.

Recommendations and rational for such are now presented. Please refer to the glossary of terms in Appendix C for definitions of common terms used below.

Task Force Recommendations and Rationale

Proposed Scope of Accreditation

Task: Developing a statement that broadly delineates the scope of accreditation for training at the master's level as contrasted with the current scope at the doctoral level

The Task Force began the process by reviewing the following documents: Standards of Accreditation (SoA), the current accreditation standards for Health Service Psychology (HSP) and the Blueprint for Education and Training in Professional Psychology in Health Care Services (Health Service Psychology Education Cooperative, 2013). Following consideration of these documents, the Task Force focused on master's programs in HSP (i.e., Clinical, Counseling and Psychology practice areas). The Task Force also reviewed the First Street Accord (https://www.apa.org/ed/accreditation/signed-accord-cpa.pdf) and the Quality Assurance in International Education and Training (https://www.apa.org/about/policy/quality-assurance-resolution.pdf), and concluded that the scope of accreditation only applies to HSP master's programs within the United States and its territories.

The Task Force recognizes that there are different routes through which master's degrees are achieved. Some master's programs stand as distinct and separate programs ending with the master's degree (i.e., "terminal" programs), while others are part of an HSP doctoral program (i.e., "integrated" programs). In regard to type of program or route through which a degree is earned, accredited master's programs in HSP must meet a set of standards leading to a specific set of professional competencies and outcomes. Consistent with doctoral-level accreditation, master's programs in HSP may also choose to have additional program-specific education and training, above and beyond the standards for accreditation at the master's level. The Task Force conceptualizes accreditation in HSP at the master's level as a core HSP—rather than accreditation specific to the practice areas of clinical, counseling or school psychology.

The Task Force recommends pursuing accreditation of programs in HSP at the master's level as part of the continuum of education and training in HSP, following the recommendations of this group.

Master's Level HSP

The Task Force conceptualizes health service psychology at the master's level to be represented by the knowledge and competencies common to clinical, counseling, and school psychology as noted in the figure below. This would include minimum levels of achievement (MLA) as defined by the core HSP competencies.



APA's scope for **Doctoral** programs

As a reference point for the expansion of accreditation to include the accreditation of master's programs in HSP, the scope of accreditation as stated in the current Standards of Accreditation for doctoral programs in HSP is provided: Standards of Accreditation for Programs in Health Service Psychology I. Scope of Accreditation:

The accreditation process is intended to promote consistent quality and excellence in education and training in HSP. Education and training provides tangible benefits for prospective students; the local, national, and international publics that are consumers of psychological services; and the discipline of psychology itself.

For the purposes of accreditation by the APA Commission on Accreditation (CoA), HSP is defined as the integration of psychological science and practice to facilitate human development and functioning. HSP includes the generation and provision of knowledge and practices that encompass a wide range of professional activities relevant to health promotion, prevention, consultation, advocacy, assessment, and treatment for psychological and other health-related disorders.

Programs that are accredited to provide training in HSP prepare individuals to work in diverse settings with diverse populations. Individuals who engage in HSP have been appropriately trained to be eligible for licensure as doctoral-level psychologists.

The Commission reviews programs for accreditation at doctoral, internship, and postdoctoral levels.

The CoA reviews doctoral programs in psychology that provide broad and general training in scientific psychology and in the foundations of practice in HSP. Practice areas within HSP include clinical psychology, counseling psychology, school psychology, and other developed practice areas. The CoA also reviews programs that combine two or three of the above-listed practice areas. (APA CoA, 2015, p. 1).

Scope of accreditation as discussed by two other relevant HSP accrediting bodies:

The table below provides a brief synopsis of the scope of accreditation of the two accrediting/approval bodies that accredit/approve psychology-based HSP master's programs: the Masters in Psychology and Counseling Accrediting Council (MPCAC) and the National Association of School Psychologists (NASP).

Both are accrediting organizations that would have at least some degree of overlap with proposed scope of accreditation proposed in this report.

Component	MPCAC	NASP
Scope	Regionally accredited academic	Doctoral and specialist level
	institutions in the United States	programs in school psychology in
	that offer master's degrees in	an institution that is regionally
	counseling and psychology and	accredited by an accreditor
	are based on the science-based	recognized by the U.S.
	practice of counseling and	Department of Education.
	psychological services.	

Context for Scope of Accreditation for HSP Master's Programs:

While expanding its scope of accreditation to include master's programs, the Task Force proposes that the purposes of accreditation remain fundamentally unchanged: "to promote consistent quality and excellence in education and training in health service psychology" and to provide "tangible benefits for prospective students, students; the local, national, and international publics that are consumers of psychological services; and the discipline of psychology itself" (APA CoA, 2015, p.1). Programs in the US that are accredited to provide training in HSP, irrespective of whether this is at the doctoral or master's level, will prepare individuals to deliver science-based psychological practices with diverse populations in multicultural settings.

The Task Force understands the scope of accreditation to be applied to the university or institutional context whereas the scope of *practice* is relevant to individual state requirements. It recognizes, however, an important relationship between the scope of accreditation and practice. In this regard, the Task Force expects that the scope of *practice* of master's level practitioners, while encompassing a range of professional activities relevant to health promotion, prevention, consultation, advocacy, assessment, and treatment for psychological and other health-related disorders, will be shaped by the *education* and *training* experiences provided in university or institutional programs. By definition, and as noted in the figure above, master's education and training will be foundational in HSP, whereas doctoral training will be more extensive building on that common foundation within the specific practice areas of clinical, counseling, and school psychology.

The Task Force recognizes that master's programs in HSP may exist within academic departments in different ways and with different program labels (e.g., clinical, counseling and school psychology programs). Master's programs in HSP may exist in university or institutional departments as stand-alone programs, or they can be integrated within doctoral programs in HSP. Regardless of their independence from or association with doctoral programs, master's programs in HSP must be based on a formalized curriculum or curricular sequence for that terminal degree, not simply as a transitional degree that is obtained after accrual of a set number of course credits or as a consolation for having not quite completed the degree requirements for a doctorate. In other words, the scope of accreditation for master's programs in HSP applies only to programs meeting a set of standards leading to a specific set of professional competencies and outcomes.

Recommendation: Proposed Scope of Accreditation for Master-level Programs in HSP

Based on the above, the Task Force recommends the accreditation of master's programs in psychology that provide education and training in the practice of health service psychology (HSP). It further recommends that this accreditation be of general HSP programs, rather than those in the specific practice areas of clinical, counseling or school psychology. For purposes of master's level accreditation, HSP remains defined as "the integration of psychological science and practice in order to facilitate human development and functioning." Programs that are accredited to provide training in HSP, irrespective of whether this is at the doctoral or master's level, will prepare individuals to deliver science-based psychological practices with diverse populations in multicultural settings. These programs may stand alone or may be integrated within existing doctoral programs in HSP in institutions and universities that are consistent with current APA policies.

Possible Pathways to Establish an Accreditation System

Task: Prioritizing possible pathways for APA to establish accreditation of master's programs in psychology. For example, what are the advantages and disadvantages of creating an entirely new accreditation system vs. expanding the scope of APA's current accrediting body? Included would be a review of how the accreditation body would (or would not) overlap with existing accreditation systems for individuals trained at the master's level in health service areas of psychology.

Establishing an accreditation system within the APA for master's programs in health service areas of psychology could be done either by expanding the scope of the current Commission on Accreditation (CoA) to include review of master's programs or a completely independent, new system within the APA. Each option has advantages and disadvantages that are detailed below.

Option #1 – Expanding the Scope of the Commission on Accreditation

Advantages

- Because the APA CoA is already recognized by the United States Department of Education (US ED) and the Council of Higher Education Accreditation (CHEA), expanding the scope of CoA to include accreditation of master's programs would likely allow for a quicker pathway to external recognition.
- o Including master's programs in CoA's scope is consistent with a perspective of a continuum of HSP training, as well as with the expertise of staff and commissioners.
- Moreover, the APA's Standards of Accreditation for Health Service Psychology (2015) states that "education in health service psychology resides on a continuum: progressing from broad and general preparation for practice at the entry level at the doctoral and internship levels to advanced preparation at the postdoctoral level in a focus area and/or recognized specialties" (p. 4).

Disadvantages

- Given the profession's history of requiring the doctoral degree for entry to practice, the development of accreditation standards and areas of expertise for those who are serving as evaluators will be crucial for the success of master's program accreditation.
- The workload for commissioners and staff has increased significantly in recent years such that it is not practical to simply add accreditation of master's programs to the current system. Additional resources including staff, space, and technology would be needed.

Advantages

- O It may be easier to develop a new accreditation system as opposed to modifying the existing CoA to accredit master's programs. This new accreditation system can replicate the structure of the existing CoA (i.e., representation from groups involved in master's education and clinical practice), while also having the flexibility to add representation from other groups as appropriate.
- The discussion around the resources needed for accreditation may be more meaningful or accurate with a separate accrediting system. APA may more clearly see what additional resources are needed to engage in master's level accreditation and how resources should be allocated.
- Additionally, a separate accreditation system may provide opportunities for APA to accredit master's programs outside of health service psychology (e.g., behavior analysis, industrial-organizational) in the future.

Disadvantages

- o Given requirements set by external recognition bodies for time in operation before an application can be made, there would be a delay in seeking external review as a specialized accreditor from the U.S. Department of Education [US ED] and Commission on Higher Education Accreditation (CHEA). This timing issue is a major consideration especially as the Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (CACREP) expands its reach to licensing and credentialing boards that have implications for individuals from master's level counseling psychology programs. Counseling psychology programs would likely by most impacted by the length of time it will take for a master's accreditation system to be operational.
- Creating a new accreditation system will require additional resources, such as staff, space, and technology that may be redundant with existing accreditation system.

Relationship between APA and Other Accreditor/Approval Systems in Health Service Psychology

Currently, there are many accrediting or approval systems in behavioral and mental health (e.g. Council of Social Work Education (CSWE), Commission of Accreditation for Marriage and Family Therapy Education (CoAMFTE), Association for Behavior Analysis International Accreditation Board (ABAIAB), Association of Occupational Therapy Accreditation (AOTA), Masters in Psychology and Counseling Accreditation Council (MPCAC), the National Association of School Psychologists (NASP), and the Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (CACREP). Of note, only MPCAC and NASP have overlap with training in psychology. However, neither of these accreditation bodies address the core overlap in all areas of HSP.

MPCAC	NASP
- Accredits clinical psychology, counseling,	- Offers an approval process for specialist (60+
and counseling psychology programs	graduate credits) and doctoral school psychology
- Requires a self-study from the applicant	programs housed in CAEP accredited units and
program and a site visit	an accreditation process for programs outside of
- Utilizes a competency-based model in	schools of education and/or in non-CAEP
accreditation standards	accredited units
- Program requirements: two years, full-	- Requires a self-study and site visit
time, or the equivalent with a minimum of	- Utilizes a competency-based model in
48 semester hours; minimum of 600 hours	accreditation standards
of supervised experience	- Program requirements: minimum of three years
	of full-time study and 60 credit hours; minimum

of 1200-hour internship along with practicum
training

Both MPCAC and NASP utilize a competency-based model in their accreditation standards; this is consistent with APA's accreditation standards for HSP, which are grounded in the competencies developed by the Health Service Psychology Education Collaborative (HSPEC; 2013). These competencies were based in part on the benchmarks competencies (Fouad, et al., 2009). Consistent with its focus on accrediting programs that educate students in the science-based practice of counseling and psychological services, the MPCAC accreditation standards are also aligned with the benchmarks competencies. While the NASP standards do not reference the HSP competencies, the curricular content required for NASP approval/accreditation overlaps significantly with the curricular content required for APA accredited HSP programs (Prus & Strein, 2011).

The APA should work collaboratively with MPCAC and NASP, acknowledging the important role that these organizations have played in accrediting/approving master's and specialist (e.g. EdS, CAS, CAGS) level training. As APA develops a method for accrediting master's programs, the Task Force encourages master's programs in HSP, including those already accredited by MPCAC or NASP, to pursue APA accreditation as well.

Recommendation: Pathway to Develop an Accreditation System

Based on a review of the advantages and disadvantages of the two options, the Task Force recommends Option #1, that APA expand the scope of the existing Commission on Accreditation to accredit master's programs that provide training in the practice of HSP, regardless of program title (i.e., programs which may not include "psychology" in their titles). Additionally, the Task Force recommends that APA CoA explore pathways to recognize programs already accredited/approved by MPCAC or NASP. Finally, that the APA CoA explore efficient processes for accredited master's programs, that are either imbedded within or affiliated with doctoral programs and undergoing periodic review for re-accreditation.

Expertise Necessary

Task: Identifying the necessary expertise to comprise the accreditation decision making body.

The Task Force considered two major options as it related to the expertise needed to fulfill the accreditation process. First, the Task Force examined whether master's level accreditation should be done with an expansion of the Commission on Accreditation (CoA) or with a new, completely separate commission. The Task Force chose the expansion of CoA in order to integrate this new accreditation process within the current APA structure. Having an expansion of the CoA allows for overlapping areas of resources and expertise to be used efficiently in an aligned manner. Second, given this proposed expansion of the CoA, the Task Force examined the structure within an expanded CoA. The Task Force attempted to accommodate inclusion of master's accreditation within the refinement of existing structures and operations. This approach fully integrates master's accreditation as part of the standard process within APA accreditation. After considerable discussion, the Task Force believes that such integration is the only way to support fully master's accreditation within the APA.

In these deliberations, the Task Force considered the implications of different models for the expertise necessary for master's accreditation. Further, the Task Force reviewed both the current structure of the CoA and that of organizations that currently accredit/approve master's programs. In mental health The

Task Force considered representational models, competency-based models, and hybrid models. The Task Force recommend a hybrid model that involves inclusion of various groups, but which also allows for obtaining expertise for the unique constituencies related to master's accreditation. This allows for the CoA to obtain a broader range of expertise to better mobilize psychology's contributions to the healthcare workforce and to better meet the public's need for mental health services.

Given these assumptions, the CoA should expand its scope and numbers. CoA currently has 32 members. In the *Snowbird Summit Final Report* document, the Structure and Appointment of the Commission on Accreditation and the Domains of Representation on the CoA is outlined beginning on page 3 (APA BEA, 2005, p. 3). Various groups (e.g., Council of Graduate Departments of Psychology, Association of Psychology Postdoctoral and Internship Centers) already are represented on CoA. As the current effort to accredit master's programs is a new initiative, an effort would be made to obtain participation from individuals outside of the current CoA structure.

In considering this expanded accreditation structure, the Task Force reflected upon what knowledge, skills, and abilities would be needed in an expanded CoA structure, such as, general knowledge of the discipline and core knowledge of HSP. It is also important to understand the connection between the standards of accreditation and the requirements for practice in HSP at the master's level. Consistent with the *APA Policies of Accreditation Governance*, "representatives on the Commission should reflect individual and cultural diversity and the breadth of psychology as a discipline," and consistent with CoA requirements, public representation and graduate student representation (APA CoA, 2006). In addition, the group considered roles associated with master's level training, settings employing master's level graduates, and representation for individuals who come from non-traditional channels. Finally, the group considered the role of other professional bodies in nominating individuals to be involved with CoA.

Recommendation: Expertise Needed

Under the proposed structure, as with the current CoA, all appointments other than the student appointment, would be made for three-year terms, renewable one time. The number of appointments initially would be limited and could expand if and when demand increases. Appointments would come from the following domains:

- A. Two faculty members from terminal master's degree programs. All are from HSP programs, such as clinical psychology, counseling psychology, and school psychology programs.
- B. One faculty member from a program "for whom master's training is prerequisite and/or foundationally integrated en route to the doctorate" (Jackson & Scheel, 2013, p. 10; referred to here as an integrated master's program).
- C. Three seats nominated from appropriate master's training councils, such as the Council of Master's Counseling Training Programs (CMCTP), Trainers of School Psychologists (TSP), and the Council for Applied Master's Programs in Psychology (CAMPP).
- D. Add two additional members to those appointed by BPA *Representing Practitioners of the Profession*. These will be master's level practitioners in HSP in the areas of clinical psychology, counseling psychology, or school psychology. They can represent independent practice or institutional practice.
- E. One student nominated by APAGS from a terminal master's program or an integrated master's program (one-year term with a reappointment for one-year).
- F. A sufficient number of public members to assure quality from a public perspective and to meet the requirements of external accrediting agency recognition

The Task Force conceptualizes that the expertise needed to fulfill the Commission appointments A-E, must be stakeholders from master's HSP constituencies. This includes students, faculty who serve as core faculty in master's HSP programs, and practitioners at the master's level.

Additional Recommendations and Considerations

In conducting its work, the Task Force identified several items that related to their charge and that would ultimately impact the implementation of an accreditation system for master's programs in psychology that warrant timely consideration by the APA. These are articulated below:

- 1. It will be important going forward to clarify and distinguish between the competencies that are expected of those successfully completing an accredited master's program in HSP in contrast to the competencies of those completing an accredited doctoral program as well as, to clearly articulate the profession's support for a scope of practice of these graduates as they enter professional practice. The Task Force recommends a group be convened and charged with the task of differentiating and articulating a scope of practice. The group should include individuals from both the practice and education communities (including the Commission on Accreditation/CoA and representatives from master's constituency groups). The Task Force further recommends the inclusion of, (a) student perspectives and (b) representation from this Task Force in the group.
- 2. Although stated earlier in this report, the Task Force believes it important to reiterate and stress the purpose of accreditation. Irrespective of whether one is discussing the accreditation of master's or doctoral training programs, doctoral internships, or postdoctoral residencies, "accreditation is intended to protect the interests of students; benefit the public, and improve the quality of teaching, learning, research, and practice in health service psychology" (APA, Commission on Accreditation, Standards of Accreditation, p. 4). Although academic program accreditation has been recognized as an important factor in the determination of individuals' eligibility to attain licensure to practice, the fact of accreditation is significant in itself and a worthy and important effort of our professional association.
- 3. It has been and remains the case that with respect to accreditation in HSP that the education and training in graduate programs must demonstrate, (a) an integration of empirical evidence into one's practice, (b) should be sequential, cumulative, and graded in complexity, and prepare students for practice or further organized training, and (c) engage in actions that indicate respect for and understanding of cultural and individual differences and diversity. The Task Force does not waiver in its recommendation that these same principles to which accredited doctoral programs are held accountable must apply as well to accredited master's programs. With particular regard to (b), the Task Force recommends that not only should master's programs in HSP be the sequential, cumulative and graded in complexity, but that these programs be understood and valued as a part of the sequential, cumulative, increasingly complex nature of graduate training and professional practice in HSP. In this regard, master's training in HSP should not be viewed as HSP training "lite," but rather as the significant—indeed foundational—portion of training in HSP that it is.
- 4. The Task Force recognizes that society benefits from providers that are trained at multiple levels. At the same time, the Task Force understands that masters-level providers in particular are more likely than doctoral level providers to live and practice in rural areas and provide

access to mental health services for those that are underserved as well as in urban areas in settings that are under-resourced. For these reasons, the Task Force recommends that the APA CoA consider attention to issues of social justice advocacy as a part of an accredited master's program's education and training sequence and expected competencies.

- 5. The Task Force recognizes that in each of the 50 states and territories, there are masters-level practitioners who are licensed for independent practice, and it believes that in tandem with a master's program accreditation effort, the APA must acknowledge and support the current status of these practitioners, rather than work to minimize or diminish their already achieved practice standing.
- 6. Although outside of the scope of the Task Force and of accreditation generally but consistent with the above, the Task Force presumes that graduates will have a professional practice identity, and it believes it's critical that a suitable practice title—one consistent with the program graduates' psychology-based training—be afforded and recommended to state regulators for purposes of licensing. The Task Force suggests that a survey of other health professions and how they handle the titling of their mid-level professionals, might be useful.
- 7. With respect to #5 and #6 above, the Task Force suggests that the APA collaborate with MPCAC (Master's in Psychology and Counseling Accreditation Council) on state-level advocacy on matters related to the licensing and scope of practice of master's level HSP practitioners and to the recognition of APA accreditation of master's programs.
- 8. The Task Force recognizes a long history of non-inclusion of masters-level practitioners and their graduate training programs in APA policy. As a master's program accreditation system moves forward, the Task Force recommends that APA undertake a comprehensive review of its current, standing policies to ensure alignment with and support of accredited masters-level training and of masters-level practitioners from accredited programs. Efforts should also include communications to current members about why the APA is developing an accreditation system for master's programs at this time.
- 9. The Task Force recognizes that APA's accreditation of master's HSP programs and its support of masters-level HSP practitioners, may have implications for membership of the association, including the role of those holding master's degrees. It believes that such implications need to be addressed, sooner than later.
- 10. The Task Force recognizes what may be a significant increase in the CoA's workload with the addition of the accreditation of master's programs (an estimate of 487 academic institutions offer a master's degree in HSP based on a recent APA workforce analysis; APA, 2017) and would note that in addition to the expansion of representation on the CoA (recommended earlier in this report), additional program review consultants (PRCs) may be necessary to assist with the work of the CoA. In addition, the OPCA will be impacted and additional association resources (e.g., staffing, space, financial, technology) will be needed.
- 11. The Task Force recognizes the significant role that CoA will play as these efforts move forward. Several particular issues relevant to master's program accreditation regarding the development of standards of accreditation are:

- a. The Task Force encourages consideration of whether a restructuring of the CoA (per its earlier recommendation) and having this restructured group undertake this task might be a fruitful way to proceed.
- b. The Task Force recognizes the value of current master's level accreditors/approval systems (e.g., NASP, MPCAC), and encourages the exploration and development of alternative pathways to accreditation for those programs that are already accredited/approved—at least during initial years of APA's system. The Task Force does not recommend that such programs be "grandfathered in" as APA accredited programs, but rather that such programs be provided with a way to move expeditiously toward accreditation given their current accredited/approved status.
- c. The Task Force also encourages the exploration of accreditation policies and procedures for streamlining the accreditation processes for academic units or departments with both a master's and doctoral program (e.g., single site visit for the two levels of programs).
- d. Recognizing the significant role that technology (distance education) plays in the current offering of master's programs in the health service areas and considering how technology may be successfully deployed in masters-level HSP programs.
- e. Ensuring that accreditation standards for master's programs ensure minimally acceptable levels of program quality and academic rigor but do not extend programs beyond two years of fulltime graduate study.
- f. Including provisions for the transfer of credit into accredited doctoral programs for students who complete an accredited master's program within either a terminal master's or integrated master's program.
- 12. The Task Force recommends that there be efforts to help ensure that the classification of these programs (their CIP codes), reflect that these master's programs are "psychology programs" rather than as (e.g.) "education programs" --that their classification is 42.xxxx rather than 13.xxxx.

References

- Altmaier, E. (Ed.) (2003). *Setting standards in graduate education: Psychology's commitment to excellence in accreditation*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- American Psychological Association. (1987). Model act for state licensure of psychologists. *American Psychologist*, *42*(), 696-703.
- American Psychological Association. (2011). Model act for state licensure of psychologists. *American Psychologist*, *66*(3), 214-226, doi:10.1037/a0022655
- American Psychological Association (2017). Degrees in Psychology [interactive data tool]. Retrieved from: http://www.apa.org/workforce/data-tools/degrees-psychology.aspx
- American Psychological Association, Board of Educational Affairs (2005). *Report of the accreditation summit meeting*. Washington DC: American Psychological Association
- American Psychological Association, Commission on Accreditation (2006). Policies for Accreditation Governance. *Implementing regulations*. Retrieved from: https://www.apa.org/ed/accreditation/section-a-soa.pdf
- American Psychological Association, Commission on Accreditation. (2015). Standards of Accreditation for Health Service Psychology. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/ed/accreditation/about/policies/standards-of-accreditation.pdf
- Beidel, D., Phillips, S., & Zlotlow, Z. (2003). The future of accreditation. In E. Altmaier (Ed.), *Setting standards in graduate education: Psychology's commitment to excellence in accreditation* (pp. 119-120). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/10568-005
- Fouad, N. A., Grus, C. L., Hatcher, R. L., Kaslow, N. J., Hutchings, P. S., Madson, M. B., . . . Crossman, R. E. (2009). Competency benchmarks: A model for understanding and measuring competence in professional psychology across training levels. *Training and Education in Professional Psychology, 3*(4, Suppl), S5-S26. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0015832
- Health Service Psychology Education Collaborative (2013). Professional psychology in health care services: A blueprint for education and training. *American Psychologist*, *68*, 411-426. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033265
- Jackson, M. A., & Scheel, M. J. (2013; authors listed in alphabetical order). Quality of master's education: A concern for counseling psychology? The Counseling Psychologist, 41(5), 669-699. DOI: 10.1177/001000011434644
- Prus, J. S., & Strein, W. (2011). Issues and trends in the accreditation of school psychology programs in the United States. *Psychology in the Schools*, *48*(9), 887-900. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20600
- Woods, P. J. (1971). A history of APA's concern with the master's degree: or "Discharged with thanks". American Psychologist, 26, 696-707, https://doi.org/10.1037/h0038201

Appendix A: Call for Nominations

Call for Task Force Members

The Board of Educational Affairs (BEA) Task Force to Develop a Blueprint for APA Accreditation of Master's Programs in Health Service Psychology

Task Force Charge:

The Task Force shall be charged to outline a plan by which APA could pursue development of an accreditation system for master's programs in health service areas (clinical, counseling, school) of psychology. Specifically, the charge of the Task Force would include:

- Developing a statement that broadly delineates the scope of accreditation for training at the master's level as contrasted with the current scope at the doctoral level
- Prioritizing possible pathways for APA to establish accreditation of master's programs in
 psychology. For example, what are the advantages and disadvantages of creating an entirely
 new accreditation system vs. expanding the scope of APA's current accrediting body. Included
 would be a review of how the accreditation body would (or would not) overlap with existing
 accreditation systems for individuals trained at the master's level in health service areas of
 psychology.
- Identifying the necessary expertise to comprise the accreditation decision making body.

Once the Task Force membership is approved, work is planned to begin immediately, in anticipation of a progress report due to the APA Council of Representatives in August 2018. The Task Force will conduct its initial work via conference call (at minimum monthly), and electronic mail. A face to face meeting of the Task Force may be scheduled to occur at APA headquarters in Washington DC in 2018. Task Force member expenses related to this meeting will be covered by the APA.

Background:

APA has discussed the role of master's training in psychology through numerous initiatives dating as far back as 70 years with no consensus. However, in August 2017 the APA Council of Representative voted that:

"Current issues and developments have risen to the level that APA should consider options related to master's level training and/or practice and that staff and governance should identify and explore options for APA to consider."

In March 2018, the Council was provided this information and voted to approve pursuing accreditation of master's level programs in areas where APA already accredits (clinical, counseling, school). Council directed staff and governance, in particular the Board of Educational Affairs, to take steps to develop an accreditation system.

Proposed membership:

BEA will appoint 8 members (including a Chair), to the Task Force from those that apply. The Task Force shall represent individuals with the following areas of expertise:

 Graduate education, at the master's and/or doctoral level, in clinical, counseling, or school psychology

- Accreditation of doctoral programs in health service psychology
- Accreditation of master's programs in clinical or counseling psychology
- Approval of master's programs in school psychology
- Leadership role(s) specific to the professional practice of psychology
- Academic leadership (department chair or higher) associated with a department, college, or school
 offering master's and doctoral degrees in psychology
- Current student in a doctoral program that obtained a terminal master's degree in psychology prior to admission into a doctoral program
- Department of Veteran's Affairs experience in training and employment of individuals with psychology degrees

Individuals with multiple areas of experience and expertise will receive precedence and are strongly encouraged to apply.

Those interested in serving on the Task Force should submit:

- A CV or resume documenting experience and knowledge related to the charge of this Task Force
- A one-page (maximum) letter specifically articulating how qualifications relate to the areas of
 expertise outlined above and any aspects of diversity that you represent and choose to make
 known.
- Matrix for the BEA Task Force to Develop a Blueprint for APA Accreditation of Master's programs in Health Service Psychology

Questions and nomination materials should be sent by May 11, 2018 to:

Jacqueline Tyson
Associate Executive Director, Administration and Governance
Education Directorate
American Psychological Association
750 First Street, NE
Washington DC 20002-4242
202-336-5966
jtyson@apa.org

Appendix B: Task Force Roster

Board of Educational Affairs Task Force to Develop a Blueprint for APA Accreditation of Master's Programs in Health Service Psychology

Task Force Members

James Wilcox Lichtenberg, PhD, ABPP (Chair)

Emeritus Professor of Counseling Psychology University of Kansas 7687 Olympia Drive W. Palm Beach, FL 33411 (561) 469-2620 | ilicht@ku.edu

Nadya A. Fouad, PhD, ABPP

Mary and Ted Kellner Endowed Chair of Educational Psychology
University Distinguished Professor
University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee
PO 413
Milwaukee, WI 53201-0413
(414) 229-6830 | Nadya@uwm.edu

William L. Hathaway, PhD

Professor of Psychology
Dean, School of Psychology & Counseling
Regent University
CRB 174
1000 Regent University Drive
Virginia Beach, VA 23464
(757) 619-3526 willhat@regent.edu

Tammy L. Hughes, PhD, ABPP

Professor of School Psychology Chair, Department of Counseling, Psychology, and Special Education Duquesne University 102C Canevin Hall Pittsburgh, PA 15282 (412) 396-5191 | hughest@duq.edu

Elizabeth Farrah Louis, MA

Doctoral Student in Counseling
Psychology
University of Georgia
10838 NE 2nd Court
Miami, FL 33161
(786) 457-1709 | efl36019@uga.edu

David John Lutz, PhD

Professor of Psychology Missouri State University 901 South National Avenue Springfield, MO 65897 (417) 836-5830 DavidLutz@MissouriState.edu

Jason Jared Washburn, PhD, ABPP

Associate Professor, Dept. of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences
Northwestern University
Feinberg School of Medicine
710 N. Lake Shore Drive, #1204
Chicago, IL 60611-3078
(312) 908-8733 | jwashburn@northwestern.edu

Valene Augusta Whittaker, PhD

Psychologist, Edith Nourse Rogers
Memorial VA Medical Center
200 Springs Road
Bedford, MA 01730
(410) 925-3724 | valenewhittaker@gmail.com

Task Force Liaison

Celeste M. Malone, PhD (Board of Educational Affairs)

Assistant Professor and Coordinator, School Psychology Program Howard University – School of Education 2441 4th Street, NW Washington, DC 20059 (202) 806-7345 | celeste.m.malone@gmail.com

APA Staff

Jaime "Jim" Diaz-Granados, PhD

Chief Education Officer
American Psychological Association
Washington, DC 20002
(202) 336-6188 | JDiaz-Granados@apa.org

Lynn Bufka, PhD

Associate Executive Director, Research & Policy Practice Directorate
American Psychological Association
Washington, DC 20002
(202) 336-5869 | lbufka@apa.org

Jessica Andrade

Associate Director, Governance Education Directorate American Psychological Association Washington, DC 20002 (202) 336-5855 | jandrade@apa.org

Catherine Grus, PhD

Deputy Executive Director Education Directorate American Psychological Association Washington, DC 20002 (202) 336-5961 | cgrus@apa.org

Jackie Tyson

Associate Executive Director,
Administration & Governance
Education Directorate
American Psychological Association
Washington, DC 20002
(202) 336-6188 | ityson@apa.org

Appendix C: Glossary of Terms and Acronyms

Health service provider — "Psychologists are certified as health service providers if they are duly trained and experienced in the delivery of preventive, assessment, diagnostic, therapeutic intervention and management services relative to the psychological and physical health of consumers based on: 1) having completed scientific and professional training resulting in a doctoral degree in psychology; 2) having completed an internship and supervised experience in health care settings; and 3) having been licensed as psychologists at the independent practice level." (APA, 2010)

Health service psychology (HSP) - "the integration of psychological science and practice in order to facilitate human development and functioning" (APA CoA, 2015).

Integrated master's program - are part of a HSP doctoral program

Terminal master's program - stand as distinct and separate programs ending in with the master's degree

Acronyms

APAGS - American Psychological Association of Graduate Students

CACREP - Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs

CAMPP – Council of Applied Master's Programs in Psychology

CHEA – Council for Higher Education Accreditation

CMCTP - Council of Master's in Counseling Training Programs

MPCAC – Masters in Psychology and Counseling Accreditation Council

NASP – National Association of School Psychologists

OPCA Office of Program Consultation and Accreditation

SoA – Standards of Accreditation

US ED - United States Department of Education

PROPOSED GUIDELINES FOR THE OPTIMAL USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA IN PROFESSIONAL PSYCHOLOGICAL PRACTICE

Correspondence may be addressed to the Practice Directorate, American Psychological Association, 750 First Street, NE, Washington, DC 20002-4242¹

Work group authors:

Deborah C. Baker, J.D., APA Director of Legal and Regulatory Policy

Andrea Barnes, J.D., Ph.D., COPPS

Robin M. Deutsch, Ph.D., ABPP, Former COPPS

Mary G. Hardiman, M.S., Director of Board Operations, APA Practice Directorate

Scott J. Hunter, Ph.D., Former COPPS

Timothy P. Melchert, Ph.D., Work Group Chair

Michael E. Tansy, Ph.D., ABPP, COPPS

Femina P. Varghese, Ph.D., COPPS

1 Introduction

Social media have become well established methods of communication for both personal and professional purposes. Many healthcare organizations and academic institutions now rely on social media to support their organizational goals, and some have implemented policies that govern employee, consultant, and trainee use of these media when engaged in professional activities. Many of these policies offer general guidelines for using social media when carrying out professional responsibilities but may not address specific situations commonly encountered by psychologists. In addition, few organizations have developed guidelines for employee use of social media outside the workplace (although there are important exceptions, including The New York Times and The Wall Street Journal; Stewart, 2017). Psychologists who work in private practice or other organizations also may have no policies or guidelines of any kind regarding the use of social media. Given the many benefits as well as the potential challenges and risks presented, guidance regarding the optimal use of social media by psychologists is needed.

The benefits of online communications and social media can hardly be overstated. Many Americans use social media and internet search engines to obtain information regarding physical and behavioral health concerns. In 2017, an estimated 88% of the North American population had used the internet (Internet World Stats, 2018), and the Pew Internet and American Life Project estimated that "8 in 10 internet users go online for health information, making it the third most popular activity online among those in Pew Internet Surveys" (Pew Research Center, 2014). PriceWaterhouseCoopers (PWC) Health Research Institute (2012)

found that 90% of 18- to 24-year-olds indicated they would engage in health-related activities promoted through social media. They also found that nearly 50% of the respondents expect their health care providers to respond within a few hours to appointment requests made through social media and that customers spent 24 times as much time on healthcare consumer community websites than on healthcare company websites.

New health care delivery models are increasingly relying on online health information tools to provide state-of-the-art information about mental and physical health promotion, prevention and wellness, and treatment. Online information about psychological practice also may enhance public awareness of the benefits of behavioral health interventions. In 2015, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) began reviewing the growing number of mobile health applications (also known as "mHealth") as digital health companies attempted to meet the growing demand for more sophisticated medical and public health applications that rely on mobile digital devices. The FDA has now approved hundreds of such products (FDA, 2018). New systems for analyzing extremely large datasets to reveal patterns and trends, often referred to as "big data" analytics, are also being used to better understand the epidemiology and outcome of diseases, including behavioral health influences on common illnesses such as diabetes and cancer.

Leading government agencies as well as health service providers have used social media to collect data and report on health issues and trends. For example, the US Centers for Disease Control uses social media to provide access to credible, science-based health information using a wide variety of social media tools to reinforce and personalize messages, reach new

audiences, and build a communication infrastructure based on open information exchange.

"Connect with SAMHSA" (the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration)
enables policymakers and the public broad access via social media tools such as Facebook,
Twitter, the SAMHSA blog, and YouTube to learn more about SAMHSA's behavioral health,
substance abuse and mental illness resources, campaigns, and advocacy programs. The
American Psychological Association (APA) uses social media to share research findings,
psychology news, and other information with its members, policymakers, and the general
public.

Psychologists have been increasingly active in their use of social media, a trend that reflects the increased use of these media by the public in general. In 2016, 69% of American adults were identified as active users of social media (Pew Research Center, 2017). As more people have adopted social media, the user base has also grown more representative of the general population, with younger adults continuing to use these media at high levels and usage by older adults increasing dramatically. Psychologists in training, including graduate students and those newly post-graduate, are particularly active users of social media (Lehavot, Barnett, & Powers, 2010). It is therefore important that psychologists become familiar with these new internet-based tools and understand how they can be used to communicate, educate, and optimize psychological practice and advance public health and well-being. This familiarity is particularly important in integrated primary care settings where these tools are increasingly being employed.

The development of social media has greatly increased opportunities for communication among individuals, groups, and the public in general. The potential of these new opportunities is so great that many organizations employing psychologists encourage them to interact with the public using Facebook pages, Twitter accounts, and other social media tools. Psychologists working in private practice often use social media in similar ways. However, there are a variety of risks and challenges associated with leveraging the power of social media. For example, the personal use of social media for communicating with friends, relatives, and social groups needs to be carefully distinguished from their professional use because the responsibilities and risks incurred as a result of one's professional role as a psychologist are very different from those assumed by private citizens interacting on a social basis. It is also important to consider how clients, other professionals, public officials, and citizens in general view psychologists' use of social media. Despite the efforts psychologists might employ to distinguish between personal and professional uses of social media, internet users may not recognize those same distinctions nor interpret them in the manner intended.

It is also critical to recognize that the use of social media involves public communication that is normally quite distinct in nature and purpose from communication with patients and clients receiving health care and other professional psychology services. The provision of health services is conducted through private, professional relationships that are legally and professionally regulated by a range of requirements involving confidentiality and the security of protected health information (see, e.g. HIPPA; APA Standards for Educational and Psychological Testing, APA, 2014; APA Guidelines for the Practice of Telepsychology, APA, 2013). Failing to

differentiate professional communication within the context of health service delivery from public communication through social media can have significant consequences for both health care providers and their clients.

Psychologists seeking professional guidance on these issues turn to resources such as the APA "Ethical Principles and Psychologist's Code of Conduct" (hereafter referred to as the Ethics Code; APA, 2010), licensing laws, professional guidelines, and workplace policies. With the advent of social media, however, psychologists must address familiar ethical and professional issues (e.g., confidentiality, self-representation, advertising, making public statements supported by research, dual relationships) in an entirely new and constantly changing media environment. Workplace policies tend to address professional aspects of social media use related to managing risk for the workplace. Few policies or guidelines are available, however, to help psychologists use social media to build their professional practice or increase their visibility; promote and optimize health service provision, research, education, and advocacy; while also managing the multiple roles and responsibilities that psychologists have with their clients, their profession, and the public at large. The guidelines described below are designed to educate psychologists and provide a framework for the optimal use of social media in professional psychological practice.

Definitions

The World Wide Web has evolved dramatically over recent decades and defining "social media" precisely has been challenging. Prior to the development of Web 2.0 in the late 1990s and early 2000s, many static websites were created to convey content similarly to the way

traditional print media conveys content in a unidirectional manner from author to reader (Cormode & Krishnamurthy, 2008). With the emergence of Web 2.0, however, technologies became available that allowed users to contribute to website content by commenting on published articles or otherwise participating in online discussions. These newer technologies, Facebook and Twitter being among the best known, are generally now referred to as "social media" (Obar & Wildman, 2015).

Some definitions of social media are broader and include technologies that allow users to create and share content (e.g., by publishing webpages) as well as applications that allow users to actively participate in social networking through Facebook or Twitter (e.g., Oxford Dictionaries, 2018, define "social media" as "Websites and applications that enable users to create and share content or to participate in social networking"). Other definitions only emphasize social networking (e.g., Merriam-Webster, 2018, defined "social media" as "forms of electronic communication (such as websites for social networking and microblogging) through which users create online communities to share information, ideas, personal messages, and other content [such as videos]"). At the time of this writing, some of the most popular types of social media platforms include social networking sites such as Facebook, microblogging sites such as Twitter, content sharing platforms such as YouTube, blog publishing media (e.g., Blogger), open-source content management system (CMS) (e.g., Wordpress), and livestreaming and livecasting programs (e.g., Facebook Live, Livestream, Periscope, YouTube live streaming).

Electronic mailing lists or "listservs" have become a common means for professionals to communicate and network with colleagues. Listservs are usually not accessible to the public

and are often intended to remain confidential among the listserv members, and consequently some experts do not consider them to be forms of social media. Regardless of the definitional issue, psychologists are aware that confidential listserv use should not be assumed, listservs are not Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) Privacy Rule compliant, and the membership on listservs may be quite large and difficult to ascertain. Though listservs do not provide ready public access in the same manner as many social media platforms, they also do not provide the security and confidentiality required when providing health services.

Alternative platforms known as private online communities do provide HIPAA-compliant communication for confidential discussions of clinical cases and other professional issues among a clearly identified group of colleagues (e.g., Doximity, Sermo). Though listservs may not fall clearly within common definitions of social media, psychologists are mindful that the limits of listserv security and confidentiality result in them sharing some similarities with public social media tools. Therefore, several of the guidelines discussed below also apply to psychologists' use of listservs.

Professional psychology practice encompasses a wide range of settings and services.

This document was written to provide guidance primarily to psychologists engaged in health service, forensic, industrial-organizational, and consulting psychology. However, many of the guidelines will be applicable for psychologists engaged in education, research, policy, and other activities as well.

The guidelines discussed below are focused on psychologists' use of online social networking tools though the use of related internet technologies is addressed when it seems

pertinent and useful. Online communication technologies obviously continue to evolve, and sometimes very quickly, which also highlights the need to keep current and be thoughtful when considering the opportunities and risks they present.

Purpose of Guidelines and Guidelines Terminology

These guidelines are designed to educate psychologists and provide a framework for making decisions regarding optimal social media use in professional psychological practice.

They were developed as a companion document to the APA Guidelines for the Practice of Telepsychology (APA, 2013) which serve to educate and guide psychologists on aspects of health service provision using telecommunications technology, often referred to as telepsychology. Health services offered through telepsychology occur in a very different context than social media which are, by definition, accessible to the public. Therefore, efforts have been made throughout this document to distinguish the optimal use of social media by psychologists from the practice of telepsychology.

Guidelines are statements that suggest or recommend specific professional behavior, endeavors, or conduct for psychologists. They differ from standards which are mandatory and may be accompanied by an enforcement mechanism. Guidelines, on the other hand, are aspirational in intent. They are intended to facilitate the continued systematic development of the profession and to help facilitate a high level of practice by psychologists. Guidelines are not intended to be mandatory or exhaustive and may not be applicable to every professional situation. They also are not definitive and are not intended to take precedence over the judgment of psychologists (APA, 2015).

The guidelines described below are intended to provide a general framework for psychologists to make full and appropriate use of social media in their professional practice. Such use is, of course, always informed by the APA Ethics Code and legal and regulatory requirements. Ethical standards for psychologists' use of social media and all their work-related conduct require a personal commitment and lifelong effort to act ethically; to encourage ethical behavior by students, supervisees, employees, and colleagues; and to consult with others concerning ethical problems (APA, 2010). Within these guidelines, more directive language is used when a particular guideline is based specifically on mandatory provisions of the Ethics Code or law. However, guidelines are not intended to be enforceable rules, but to help psychologists identify ways that the enforceable rules, such as the Ethics Code and legal and regulatory requirements, might be applied appropriately.

Interaction with State and Federal Laws

A variety of specific state and federal laws and regulations govern the practice of professional psychology with respect to social media. To the extent possible, this document attempts to provide guidelines that are consistent with those laws and regulations. In the event of a conflict between these guidelines and any state or federal law or regulation, the law or regulation in question supersedes these guidelines. It is anticipated that psychologists will use their education, skills, and training to identify the relevant issues and attempt to resolve conflicts in a way that conforms to both law and ethical practice. Psychologists are aware that they should consult a qualified attorney when particularly difficult questions or concerns arise regarding usage of social media and professional practice.

Expiration

These guidelines are scheduled to expire 10 years from [insert the date of adoption by APA Council of Representatives]. After this date, users are encouraged to contact the APA Practice Directorate to determine whether this document remains in effect.

194 The Guidelines

Section 1. Importance and Relevance of Social Media

Guideline 1.1. Psychologists are aware that social media can be highly useful for improving public access to information about behavioral health, psychological services, and the integration of behavioral health within primary, secondary, and tertiary health care.

Rationale. Online social media platforms represent a very important asset for psychologists. These communication tools provide opportunities for educating the public about behavioral health and psychological services as well as broader interrelated health issues. They can also be very useful for reaching individuals from underserved populations, disabled individuals without access to transportation, and those living in remote areas. Though many individuals do not have online access (an estimated 12% of North Americans did not use the internet in 2017; Internet World Stats, 2018), very large proportions of those with internet access use it to obtain information about behavioral and physical health. In fact, Pew Research Center (2014) found that obtaining health information via the internet was the third most popular online activity, utilized by approximately 8 in 10 internet users. Social media provides a

valuable opportunity for psychologists to directly communicate with the wider public about health issues and psychological services.

Application. Psychologists are mindful of the great potential that social media and other online platforms have for promoting the health and well-being of the general public. A variety of online social media tools can be used to reach individuals across geographic and socioeconomic lines and from many different diagnostic and health status groups. These tools provide opportunities for psychologists to efficiently share reliable, research-based information that can help individuals prevent behavioral, physical, and other problems from occurring or from increasing in severity, access the health services they need, and promote health and well-being in general.

To effectively realize the potential of social media for these purposes, however, psychologists also need to be mindful of the many ethical, legal, and professional issues that arise when communicating with the public using these tools. Social media present the opportunity to easily engage in a variety of therapeutic and extra-therapeutic interactions with clients and others that can be problematic. Psychologists working and living in rural and other close communities are familiar with how easily professional boundaries can become blurred and strive to maintain awareness of potential boundary and role conflicts that can arise in personal and professional interactions. These same boundary and role conflicts can arise within the context of social media interactions. The guidelines discussed below highlight psychologists' obligations to protect the privacy and confidentiality of clients, ensure the accuracy of their

communications, avoid communication with past or current clients that can compromise professional boundaries, and be aware of additional issues that are critical to the ethical and professional use of social media, such as a clear delineation between personal and professional usage. Psychologists also need to be aware that participating in social media opens a public record of their communications that is searchable by current and potential future clients, students, research participants, legal and regulatory professionals, employers, and others (Kolmes, 2012).

Guideline 1.2. Psychologists are mindful of social media's growing importance as a tool for communicating and engaging with interested groups of clients, students, peers, and other stakeholders around particular health issues, thereby adding value to health services, research, and education.

Rationale. Social media is a nearly instantaneous form of communication that has great potential for public engagement in myriad aspects of health and healthcare. Psychologists are mindful of social media's growing importance in the public health arena, including applications that facilitate communication, collaboration, and sharing of information among groups of interested parties (Deloitte Center for Health Solutions, 2016). For example, it is estimated that one-third of Americans who go online to research their current health conditions also use social networks to find fellow consumers and discuss their conditions with them (Elkin, 2008; Korda & Itani, 2013). In addition, 36% of social network users consider other consumers' experience and knowledge before making health care decisions (Keckley & Hoffman, 2010).

249 Psychologists are also mindful of the potential for social media to add value in the 250 provision of health services. For example, social media enables psychologists to connect with medical patients or family members of medical patients who are coping with particular medical 251 conditions (Fox, Pew Internet and American Life Project, 2004; Ferguson (2007). A prominent 252 example of this is Crohnology.com which is one of the most closely watched experiments in the 253 use of social media to facilitate treatment and promote health among clients with a particular 254 condition. This social network provides clients with Crohn's, colitis, and other inflammatory 255 bowel conditions with a means to track symptoms, share information on nutrition, diet and 256 remedies, and provide support and encouragement to each other. These opportunities 257 258 involving real-time interaction, support, and access to information serve to increase clients' efficacy in self-care and disease management, and have the potential to improve the delivery 259 and even the economics of health care. The participation of psychologists on these types of 260 261 sites when they are patients or consumers themselves, either when they possess professional expertise in the subject matter or not, also raises questions involving multiple roles and 262 relationships. The sections below address several issues to consider when pursuing these types 263 264 of participation.

Social networks also hold considerable potential for health care research and policy because they can be used to reach stakeholders, aggregate information, and leverage collaboration (Keckley & Hoffman, 2010). For example, social media can be an important tool for advancing the understanding of the epidemiology and etiology of a variety of behavioral and physical health conditions by facilitating the collection of very large datasets from individuals

265

266

267

268

269

coping with particular conditions that can then be investigated through big data analytics.

Hence, psychologists are, in fact, stakeholders in the use of social media for research on questions that are best addressed through big data analytics and related procedures.

Application. Psychologists who utilize social media are encouraged to maintain and update their working knowledge of social media for communicating with various audiences regarding health and psychological well-being. This may include seeking professional development opportunities or collaborating with a community of learners. Effective models are also being developed that exemplify how social media can responsibly reach and engage consumers. For example, the Mayo Center for Social Media (MCCSM) is a first-of-its-kind social media center that aims to advance health globally by accelerating the application of social media tools across the Mayo Clinic system through broader and deeper engagement by hospitals, medical professionals, and clients. Mayo has also established a Social Media Health Network (SMHN) that provides tools, resources, and guidance for organizations as well as individuals who want to use social media for health education and health care. Johns Hopkins Hospital likewise has a wide range of social media resources for communicating with various client and other groups about issues of common interest (Malcomson, 2016).

It is also recommended that psychologists encourage the organizations they work for and/or support to develop and implement policies addressing the use of social media for sharing and discussing information and work products within relevant communities. Within professional psychology education, for example, social media are being used to support student education and mentorship (e.g., the Association of Psychology Postdoctoral and Internship

Centers (APPIC) Intern-Network listserv facilitates the discussion of professional psychology internship issues among internship applicants and current interns as well as training directors and other psychology professionals). It is also common for the divisions of APA and other psychological organizations to use blogs and listservs for communication among their members. Such networks provide opportunities for psychologists to address a wider range of concerns and needs and within a much shorter time frame that was traditionally the case. Psychologists, students, and others using these networks need to keep in mind, however, the public or potentially public nature of most of these networks (see the next section below). Psychologists should also be aware of the various legal concerns pertaining to the use of listservs with respect to professional practice, including anti-competitive activity, privacy, and ethics. Psychologists working in educational, clinical, research or any other type of setting are also mindful of the need to educate and train students and staff under their supervision in the appropriate use of social media (see Section 3 below).

Professional Ethics

2. Ethical and Professional Issues

Guideline 2.1. Psychologists are mindful of the public nature of social media and that their privacy and confidentiality often are not protected nor expected on social media.

Rationale. In their commitment to increasing scientific and professional knowledge, psychologists strive to help the public develop informed judgment and choices concerning

human behavior (APA Ethical Code: Preamble). This can occur through a variety of means, including social media. Though the use of social media may facilitate this goal, it may also pose an increased risk to practitioner privacy and confidentiality, revealing personal information that, in the past, has remained private. Online information about the psychologist allows greatly increased exposure to past, current, and prospective clients; other professionals, including supervisors, peers, and supervisees; as well as the public in general. Therefore, psychologists using social media are encouraged to become educated on how to protect their own privacy, the privacy of their family and friends, the privacy of their clients, as well as the privacy of the family and friends of clients. To address these concerns, psychologists are encouraged to learn how to develop social media use policies, how to monitor the accuracy of information about them on social media, and when and how to inform their clients about their social media practices and policies.

Application. Psychologists who use social media remain cognizant of the boundaries of their competence (Ethics Code 2.01) and take reasonable steps to ensure their competence in using new techniques and technologies (Ethics Code 201[c]). Before using social media, psychologists are encouraged to become informed about the nature and technology of social networking sites including the processes by which information is shared and stored, as well as the circumstances under which it may be sold or otherwise displayed, distributed, or published by unknown parties. Similarly, inasmuch as some platforms (e.g., Facebook, LinkedIn) scan user contact files and display identity information to others as possible "friends" or connections, psychologists carefully consider the implications of granting access to these platforms when

queried, periodically review the permissions they previously granted, and/or are careful to maintain separate contact files for personal versus professional pages.

In all circumstances, psychologists recognize that privacy and protection of confidentiality are not to be expected when using social media. Psychologists understand that all information posted on social media platforms is posted with the implicit understanding that it might be seen by clients, people involved in the lives of clients, colleagues, employers, students, or any member of the public.

Participating in social media can offer the semblance of anonymity and foster increased disclosure as a result (Ma, Handcock, & Naamnan, 2016; Qian & Scott, 2007). Therefore, psychologists are encouraged to take extra caution to avoid using speech that is potentially libelous or denigrates the reputation of psychology. They are encouraged to refrain from posting direct or indirect references regarding clients, disparaging comments about colleagues or client groups, or opinions that denigrate the reputation of psychological practice, research, or education.

Psychologists also strive to become educated on the unintended but uncontrollable consequences of social media use for personal purposes. For example, some social media tools such as Snapchat hold information only briefly, but screenshots can be made of posts on these ephemeral applications and distributed publicly. The same is true of Facebook pages that are intended to be limited to a private group of individuals (e.g., "Friends" or "Friends of Friends"). Indeed, the Library of Congress has preserved every single tweet ever posted on Twitter from its inception up through the end of 2017; even if an account is deleted the archive may remain

in perpetuity. The Library is continuing to save many tweets beyond 2017 but only those related to significant events and particular themes (Chokshi, 2017). Therefore, psychologists recognize that any post on any social media tool, even when it is intended to be an ephemeral or private posting, may potentially appear in the public domain.

Guideline 2.2. Psychologists are mindful of ethical and legal obligations to maintain client privacy and confidentiality at all times.

Rationale. Participating in social media increases the risk of unintentionally exposing the psychologist-client relationship. Psychologists using social media must be mindful of these risks and legal obligations, considering and addressing them before as well as during their participation in social media. Though social media use can benefit psychology and the public, it creates new challenges to the psychologist-client relationship. Technological advances have altered and will continue to alter professional psychological practice. Nonetheless, psychologists must continue to maintain the privacy and confidentiality of their relationships with clients.

Application. Psychologists remain mindful of ethical principles governing communications, interactions, confidentiality, privacy, and respect for others when using social media for personal or professional purposes. Similarly, psychologists diligently maintain standards of client privacy and confidentiality that apply to all settings, comply with legal requirements, and make every reasonable effort to safeguard the privacy of clients.

Psychologists are aware of the potential need to consult a qualified attorney should questions

arise regarding legal privacy concerns and social media usage.

Psychologists carefully consider the risks and rewards that their online activity might pose for their clients. For example, careful and thorough effort is to be applied to camouflage discussions of client case studies, whether they occur in social media or traditional print media (APA Ethical Code 4.07). The same suggestion applies to psychologists who decide that it would be beneficial to consult regarding a client case on a listserv of professional colleagues. Listservs are not HIPAA compliant. Consequently, psychologists need to exercise great care in protecting client privacy if they decide to request consultative input via a listserv. In these cases, psychologists do not disclose personally identifiable information of any kind concerning their clients, students, research participants, organizational clients, or other recipients of their services unless they take reasonable steps to disguise the client, the client has consented in writing, and there is a legal authorization to do so (APA Ethical Code 4.07).

Psychologists also normally request clinical consultations from professionals who are known to possess competence and expertise with regard to their client's circumstances, and psychologists are aware that it may be very difficult to judge the competence of those who respond to a consultation request on a listserv. An alternative format for conducting clinical consultations online is through the use of private online communities that are specifically designed for this purpose, are HIPAA compliant, and where membership is carefully monitored (e.g., Doximity, Sermo).

Use of social media can also invite multiple relationships and psychologists are encouraged to be prepared to respond appropriately (e.g., Facebook may suggest clients or therapists as "friends" simply because geolocation places them in the same clinic). Should breaches of confidentiality or inappropriate multiple relationships occur, psychologists are encouraged to be prepared to take appropriate steps to correct the problems.

Responding to negative comments posted on health care provider or course instructor review sites can be complicated. Psychologists are advised to refrain from attempting to influence such reviews by asking clients not to rate their services online (APA Practice Organization, 2015), nor should psychologists encourage clients to post positive reviews (see Ethics Code 5.05). Before considering any sort of online response to a negative review, psychologists need to recall that their relationships with clients, students, and research subjects are ordinarily protected by confidentiality and any reply should not imply any direct knowledge of or history with any individual with whom one has had a professional relationship protected by confidentiality (APA Practice Organization, 2015). If a psychologist suspects that a colleague or competitor posed as a former client and posted a negative review, however, the psychologist may have recourse by contacting the review website, by filing an ethics complaint, or through other avenues as they would in other situations when their practice is intentionally harmed.

Guideline 2.3. Psychologists consider the risks and implications of using social media and online searches to obtain information about their clients, students, consultees, and others with whom they work on a professional basis.

Rationale. The emergence of social media and internet search capabilities affords psychologists the opportunity to easily obtain online information about their clients, students, and consultees without their knowledge. Despite the public nature of information available on the internet and the potential usefulness of that information, conducting online searches raises ethical issues associated with privacy, informed consent, and self-determination (DiLillo & Gale, 2011). The APA Ethics Code General Principle E states "psychologists respect the dignity and worth of all people, and the rights of individuals to privacy, confidentiality, and selfdetermination." While it is expected that clients disclose important information to psychologists during evaluation and treatment, it is also understood that the client determines the type, timing, and means by which personal information is to be disclosed (DeLillo & Gale, 2011). If psychologists seek personal information about clients without first obtaining informed consent for such a search, it could be considered an intrusion on privacy and a violation of their clients' right to self-determination (Barnett, 2008; Clinton, Silverman & Brendel, 2010; DeLillo & Gale, 2011; Lehavot et al., 2010; Tunick et al., 2011). These issues are particularly relevant in the context of clinical treatment, whereas additional considerations may weigh heavily in various forensic, correctional, school, consulting, industrial-organizational, and other contexts the actual client in these contexts may be an organization or institution, a factor that has major implications for the confidentiality and privacy of all the parties involved (Fugua, Newman, Simpson, & Choi, 2012).

414

415

416

417

418

419

420

421

422

423

424

425

426

427

428

429

430

431

432

433

434

A key element in evaluating whether an online search violates a client's privacy and selfdetermination is the question of informed consent. The APA Ethics Code 3.10(a) requires psychologists to obtain informed consent from clients (or surrogate decision makers as in the case of children) about the services to be provided. Although commonly known to involve other aspects of treatment (e.g., confidentiality, fees, payment), consent also encompasses informing clients about the nature and process of the psychotherapeutic relationship, including approaches and techniques that might be used (Fisher & Oransky, 2008). This could be viewed as including searches for online information involving the client.

Psychologists are also mindful of the unknown reliability of much information on the internet. In addition, psychologists understand that prior information about an individual can bias a psychological evaluation and influence a professional relationship. Possessing information about new or prospective clients obtained online without their prior informed consent places psychologists in the position of deciding how to use unauthorized and potentially unreliable information in a therapeutic manner. Introducing such material in treatment sessions might have the effect of enhancing trust in the therapeutic relationship, but of course it could also harm the relationship as well, while keeping that information to one's self may also affect one's reactions to the client and approach to the professional relationship.

Application. To conform to APA Ethics Code General Principle E and respect clients' right to self-determination, psychologists typically refrain from conducting internet searches on or about therapy clients unless it is needed to provide the service and the clients provide informed consent to the searches. Should a psychologist believe internet searches about their client may be of therapeutic value, obtaining prior informed consent is considered, including making clear when, why, and how an internet search will be conducted. Psychologists consider developing

and revising, as needed, a policy about this aspect of their practice, including clear principles guiding the decision and the circumstances under which the psychologist conducts internet searches about their client. Such a policy can be reviewed and signed by clients as part of the informed consent process before conducting such a search.

456

457

458

459

460

461

462

463

464

465

466

467

468

469

470

471

472

473

474

475

476

Though APA Ethics Code General Principle E suggests that a client's rights to privacy and self-determination might prevent therapists from conducting internet searches on clients without their consent, surveys have found that many mental health providers routinely turn to the internet as a source of information about clients (Clinton, Silverman, & Brendel, 2010; DiLillo & Gale, 2011). Kolmes and Taube (2014) surveyed 227 psychotherapists and found that 28% "accidentally" came across client information online (of those, 70% through Facebook), and 48% reported searching for online information about their clients in non-crisis situations and without their clients' knowledge. Social networking and internet searching have become commonplace for many people, and many student therapists entering the profession, for example, may see little harm in conducting these types of searches. According to this view, information on the internet is publicly available and represents an appropriate and, at times, therapeutically useful source of information about clients (e.g., to check for prior criminal offenses committed by a client, to gain a better understanding of how the client presents heror himself socially). One circumstance that may justify an online search without the client's consent involves crisis situations when a client presents a danger to him- or herself or others, and information on a client's current whereabouts or the whereabouts of a potential target of the client may be important to preventing harm (Kolmes & Taube, 2014). Nonetheless, to

respect the principle of clients' rights to privacy and self-determination, psychologists are encouraged to consider the ramifications of intentionally seeking out online information about clients and refrain from conducting internet searches about clients without their informed consent unless circumstances warrant such a search.

Guideline 2.4. Psychologists consider the need to avoid contact with their current or past clients on social media if it would blur boundaries of the professional relationship.

Rationale. Within recent history, social media have become a routine aspect of life, dominating aspects of popular culture, and transforming how people, including psychologists, communicate with family, friends, their communities, and the broader society. Unlike traditional forms of communication, social media may broadcast psychologists' personal and professional information to a much broader audience and thereby may be exchanged with individuals with whom psychologists have a therapeutic, supervisory, evaluative, or other type of relationship. This broader dissemination of information may increase psychologists' risk of blurred professional and personal boundaries (Kaslow, Patterson, & Gottlieg, 2011; Zur et al., 2009).

Multiple relationships occur when a psychologist is in a professional role and at the same time is in another role with the same person or another person closely associated with the first person, or promises to engage in a personal role with the person or their close associate in the future (APA Ethics Code 3.05). Psychologists refrain from entering multiple relationships when the relationship could reasonably be expected to impair their objectivity,

competence, or effectiveness in performing their functions as a psychologist, or otherwise risks exploitation or harm to the person with whom the professional relationship exists. Multiple relationships may include individuals with whom the psychologist has had or may have a professional relationship, including those over whom they have supervisory, evaluative, or other authority, including clients, students, supervisees, research participants, and employees (Ethics Code 3.08). This guidance applies to all professional relationships, including those initiated or maintained through social media.

498

499

500

501

502

503

504

505

506

507

508

509

510

511

512

513

514

515

516

517

518

Application. Psychologists are mindful that the risk of engaging in multiple relationships can be increased through social media and hence consider how they will manage this risk. Psychologists who use social media are encouraged to develop self-monitoring strategies such as consulting with colleagues and supervisors (Gabbard, Kassaw & Perez-Garcia, 2011). To manage and control the ease with which clients or prospective clients may access personal information, psychologists who pursue an online presence consider maintaining a professional website and social media accounts separate from their personal web presence, and/or use a pseudonym for their personal account (American Medical Association, 2012; Myers, Endres, Ruddy, & Zelikovsky, 2012). Psychologists are also encouraged to include only professional information on their professional social media profiles (Bratt, 2010), and only personal information on their personal social media profiles.

Whether or not it is appropriate to interact with individuals on professional social media sites depends on the purpose and nature of those sites. For example, if psychologists maintain a Facebook page focused on their psychotherapy practice and "friend" individuals through that

site (and particularly if psychologists encourage their clients to do so), it might be assumed that many of the individuals on the site are or were therapy clients. This could give the impression that these psychologists are encouraging clients to reveal the confidential information that they were in treatment. Therefore, psychologists maintaining a social media site focused on their professional practice consider whether it would be appropriate to not "friend" clients or past clients under any circumstances (see Kolmes, 2010). In other cases, psychologists create social networking sites focused around particular mental health and other issues (e.g., to advocate for and support parents of children with particular behavioral, medical, or educational issues) and not their professional services. They may interact actively with individuals on these sites primarily from the perspective of public education and advocacy, and there may be no reason to suspect that the individuals participating on these sites are or were clients of the psychologist who created the site. Psychologists who use social media are encouraged to consider the specific risks of multiple relationships that their social media use creates and incorporate this issue into their informed consent policy and procedures (see Guideline 2.5 below).

534

535

536

537

538

539

519

520

521

522

523

524

525

526

527

528

529

530

531

532

533

Guideline 2.5. Psychologists are aware of the benefits of establishing a policy regarding their participation in social media and discussing this policy and their use of social media as part of the informed consent process with clients.

Rationale. Psychologists who use social media consider when it is important to adopt a policy that they can then communicate to their clients. Many psychologists work in agencies or

institutions that have explicit policies on social media use. Some of these policies are far more detailed and comprehensive than others and many agencies have no social media use policy. When considering the adequacy of particular social media policies, psychologists give attention to the Human Relations standards of the APA Ethics Code including multiple relationships (3.05), conflicts of interest (3.06), exploitative relationships (3.08), cooperation with other professionals (3.09), informed consent (3.10), and psychological services delivered to or through organizations (3.11). Additionally, their policies should attend to the APA Ethics Code Privacy and Confidentiality standards including maintaining confidentially (4.01), discussing the limits of confidentiality (4.02), recording (4.03), minimizing intrusions on privacy (4.04), disclosures (4.05), and use of confidential information for didactic or other purposes (4.07). The present guidelines provide many useful suggestions for incorporating into one's social media use policy.

Application. Psychologists are mindful of their role and responsibilities when providing professional services and when their involvement with a client requires an informed consent agreement that specifies their approach to using social media. A particularly pertinent issue in this regard concerns multiple relationships (see Guideline 2.3 above). Many psychologists work in agencies where institutional informed consent procedures address these issues, but other psychologists must navigate these issues independently (for a sample policy, see Kolmes, 2010). When appropriate, psychologists inform their clients of their social media use policies at the outset of their relationship and throughout the course of their relationship as needed.

Guideline 2.6. Psychologists are aware that social media provide many opportunities for investigating important research questions but are mindful of the need to guard against the misuse of research involving social media.

Rationale. Social media provide many opportunities to collect data and investigate important research questions into a wide range of topics across the social sciences and human service fields. But social media can also be used to develop tools that, like any other tool, can be used for purposes that undermine individual, community, and societal functioning. Recent controversies involving the use of psychological research and social media tools to promote particular political candidates or parties in U.S. elections (Cadwalladr, 2018) highlight the potential for this problem. Such unconstructive purposes are inconsistent with the overarching purpose of the discipline of psychology. Psychologists are reminded that "The mission of the APA is to advance the creation, communication and application of psychological knowledge to benefit society and improve people's lives" (APA Mission Statement, 2018).

Application. Research that takes advantage of the great efficiency and reach of social media provides many important opportunities to advance the mission and goals of psychology. But social media also provide opportunities to collect and use personal information to target individuals and groups for purposes of manipulating their behavior in ways that do not support the mission and goals of the field. Social media clearly can be used for unconstructive as well as constructive purposes.

Though it is perhaps unlikely that psychologists would intentionally participate in inappropriate manipulative uses of social media, psychologists who are insufficiently diligent about learning the motivations and purposes of particular individuals or organizations could be asked to share their expertise in ways that actively support unconstructive purposes. Therefore, psychologists need to remain mindful that their research and/or their research skills can be exploited for purposes that do not support the mission of the field. As noted in the APA Ethics Code *General Principle A: Beneficence and Nonmaleficence*, "Because psychologists' scientific and professional judgments and actions may affect the lives of others, they are alert to and guard against personal, financial, social, organizational, or political factors that might lead to misuse of their influence" (APA Ethics Code, 2010).

Guideline 2.7. Psychologists strive to maintain accurate and truthful statements on social media about their own practice, colleagues, the profession of psychology, and other issues, and give special attention to the scientific support and empirical basis for statements made and the limitations of available evidence regarding particular topics.

Rationale. The use of social media affords psychologists the opportunity to make public statements about themselves, their practice, and issues in the field of psychology that reach a broad population. As a result, the public has greatly increased access to valuable psychological information, serving purposes of general education as well as practice promotion. The extremely quick and easy distribution of this information to the public, however, also increases

the potential for statements and information to be misinterpreted and/or be perceived as misleading, deceptive, or even fraudulent. As a result, psychologists are encouraged to carefully review statements concerning one's practice, research, expertise, and issues in the field of psychology generally prior to posting them on social media or other online platforms (see APA Ethics Code 5.01 and 5.04).

Psychologists are governed by the same rights and limitations to public speech that apply to all citizens, including both rights related to freedom of expression and restrictions related to defamation, falsehoods, and other types of damaging statements that may harm the reputation of an individual or the profession. Therefore, psychologists strive to engage in the use of social media with civility and respect. Psychologists recognize the possibility of professional disagreement but refrain from engaging in ad hominin attacks of colleagues. They use social media to present psychological research accurately and fairly, including both its strengths and limitations.

Application. According to the APA Ethics Codes Section 5, public statements and advertising by psychologists are permitted, and social media can be a powerful tool for doing so given their great reach and highly interactive capabilities. Psychologists are aware, however, that inappropriate online actions and posted content may negatively affect their reputations among clients and colleagues, may have consequences for their careers, and can undermine public trust in psychology.

Psychologists hold a position of trust and authority with the public. When using social media to educate the public, psychologists strive to present information that is relevant, valid,

and reasonably current. Psychologists strive to present an accurate and balanced view of research, including both its strengths and limitations. When offering public advice or comment on social media, psychologists are obligated to make statements that are informed through their professional knowledge, training, and experience (APA Ethic Code 5.04). When sharing psychological information and advertising their services, psychologists make reasonable efforts to avoid giving specific advice, offering diagnoses, or otherwise behaving as if they were conducting treatment. Psychologists provide appropriate citations to the authors of any studies discussed and are diligent to avoid plagiarism. They also need to be careful about copyright infringement when using images or content in their social media posts that were generated by others.

Marketing materials on social media or other internet platforms should be developed with the same care as print advertisements or promotions. Just as with print or other media, psychologists are responsible for the accuracy of information about their training, experience, credentials, and qualifications (Ethics Code 5.01), and the accuracy of information included in online promotions of workshops and seminars (Ethics Code 5.03) and media-based presentations (Ethics Code 5.04). As in other forms of advertising and public statements, psychologists do not solicit testimonials from individuals who are vulnerable to undue influence, including current clients (Ethics Code 5.05), nor do they solicit business or clients, directly or indirectly, through another agent (Ethics Code 5.06).

To help fulfill these various standards, psychologists who use social media are encouraged to track, manage, update, and maintain their personal and professional websites,

digital identity, articles, profiles, and digital images. To the extent that is reasonable and practicable, psychologists can also monitor the online information that others have posted about them and verify its accuracy. If they discover inaccurate or inappropriate personal information online, they can consider whether contacting the person who posted the information and/or the website administrator would be appropriate. Students entering the profession may need to remove postings that are dated or no longer appropriate. Faculty and supervisors of students and staff should be aware of this concern as well and address it during training and supervision (see also Section 3 below). Due to the complex skills required to maintain an online social media presence, many psychologists seek the assistance of technology professionals to help optimize their social media presence. Psychologists who utilize others to assist in their social media use and presence are nonetheless responsible for the content of the information (see also Guideline 3.3 below).

Psychologists also consider when it is appropriate to state whether they are or are not representing their employer, institution, or profession when posting particular types of online content. Psychologists strive to be clear when sharing personal opinions on social media versus the findings of empirical research or the positions of employers or institutions and professional organizations with which they affiliate. This is also important when communicating personal support for or endorsement of individuals, groups, products, services, or activities.

Though psychologists frequently share their expertise about psychological topics with the general public, they are mindful of the limitations associated with offering professional opinions about public figures in social or other forms of media. Psychologists offering opinions

based on publicly available information need to ensure that there is appropriate and adequate information to substantiate their statements and conclusions (Ethics Code 5.04, 9.01; for further discussion of this issue, see also Martin-Joy, 2017).

Section 3. Education, Training, and Professional Development Issues

Guideline 3.1. Psychologists are mindful of the need to stay current regarding the benefits and limitations of social media technologies as they evolve and the ethical and professional implications of using these technologies.

Rationale. The creation, development and proliferation of social media technologies is evolving at a rapid rate, and each new social media technology carries with it new benefits and limitations. Therefore, the implications of using these tools in an ethical and professional manner for both personal and professional purposes is also evolving. When considering use of social media, psychologists strive to demonstrate due diligence in their appraisal of these factors to ensure that their use is in a manner consistent with best practices and ethical standards.

Application. To become and remain competent in the use of social media, psychologists receive training on appropriate and ethical uses of social media throughout their career, including graduate school, internship, post-doctoral training, and beyond, as the nature of social media is evolving at a rapid pace relative to many other aspects of psychological practice.

USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA

This training often includes attention to the ways social media use impacts confidentiality, risks of blurred professional relationships, and impacts on the therapeutic relationship.

Social media tools are used for a variety of marketing, public education, and advocacy purposes, and their ability to easily target specific segments of the population makes them particularly useful for serving multiple purposes. Professionals can research which social media tools are best for reaching specific groups for particular purposes. Ratings and reviews are available for many social media tools and psychologists can also consult with technical experts on issues related to their strengths and limitations, ways to avoid their misuse, and any related legal issues. Psychologists remain mindful, however, that advice from sources that advocate social media marketing tactics used in contexts other than professional psychology practice (e.g., retail sales, political campaigns) may not be in keeping with the ethical and professional practices of psychologists. Therefore, psychologists should consider consulting with technical experts and sources of information specifically related to professional psychology practice. They might also form their own learning communities around social media topics. Psychologists who use social media strive to be familiar with reliable sources of education, training and professional guidance that are relevant to their use within the context of professional psychology and behavioral health care.

699

682

683

684

685

686

687

688

689

690

691

692

693

694

695

696

697

698

Guideline 3.2. Psychologists are aware of the need to educate and train students and staff under their supervision in the ethical and professional use of social media appropriate to their roles and responsibilities.

Rationale. Many organizations rely heavily on social media platforms to help advance the goals of the organization. Given the ethical and professional considerations discussed throughout these guidelines, psychologists are aware of the training and supervision needs of the students and staff under their supervision in how to use social media effectively, ethically, and professionally. Providing guidance and oversight are essential for ensuring that staff and students represent their organizations accurately, responsibly, and consistent with ethical and professional guidelines.

Application. Clear instructions and ongoing training on new social media tools should be part of one's organizational culture as well as procedures for correcting any unethical or unprofessional behavior that occurs. Distinctions between personal and professional uses of social media should be clarified as well as the benefits and risks to one's self, the organization, and its consumers. The guidelines discussed above should be helpful for addressing these issues. As social media platforms evolve, additional training and the updating of policies may also be appropriate. Training could also be considered regarding ways to safeguard the use of social media from viruses, malware, and hackers, and procedures for handling these situations if they occur.

Some psychologists maintain blogs or Twitter accounts to help educate the public and attract potential clients, and the maintenance of these social media sites may be assigned to a supervisee. In these cases, it will be important to maintain clear guidance and perhaps also written policies about the types of content and information that can be posted on these platforms. Psychologists should also be aware that they may need to use "business associate agreements" with web designers, billing services, information technology support services, or others who have access to HIPAA-protected client information from their practices to ensure that the security and confidentiality of client information is protected (Health and Human Services, 2013).

Guideline 3.3. Psychologists consider the needs for education, training, and professional development among their professional colleagues and collaborators regarding the ethical and professional use of social media.

Rationale. Psychologists frequently collaborate with colleagues in using social media for marketing, teaching, research, public education, advocacy, and other purposes. Psychologists naturally vary in their experience and knowledge of social media and the risks and benefits associated with using particular social media tools. As a result, they may find that some of their collaborators use social media tools in a manner inconsistent with ethical and professional principles and guidelines. Clients, students, managers, administrators, as well as colleagues and the public generally may expect that psychologists should make attempts to notify

collaborators of their problematic social media use and educate them in the appropriate use of these tools (see Ethics Code 1.04).

Application. The misuse of social media is perhaps frequently unintentional and may arise from a lack of understanding of how to use internet-based platforms and tools appropriately. For example, psychologists may unwittingly put themselves in compromising positions when they are included on a Twitter feed regarding ideas to which they do not agree, or a client connects with them on a platform such as LinkedIn and leaves a message that reveals confidential information. Collaborators of the psychologist may want to enhance their social media presence to generate business and might describe work they did that is not accurately portrayed or they might post unprofessional or inappropriate content that represents an organization or the profession poorly. If psychologists notice their collaborators using social media in these ways, they should consider informing them of the potential ethical and professional issues involved so that the collaborators have a chance to change and rectify the behavior (see Ethics Code 1.04).

Note: The authors of the above guidelines have no financial or other conflicts of interest related to potential benefits associated with developing or implementing these guidelines.

758	REFERENCES
759	American Medical Association. (2012). AMA policy: Professionalism in the use of social media.
760	American Medical Association 2012 Annual Meeting. Retrieved from http://www.ama-
761	assn.org/ama/pub/meeting/professionalism-social-media.shtml
762	American Psychological Association. (2007). Record keeping guidelines. American Psychologist
763	62, 993-1004.
764	American Psychological Association. (2010). Ethical principles of psychologists and code of
765	conduct (2002, Amended June 1, 2010). Retrieved from
766	http://www.apa.org/ethics/code/index.aspx
767	American Psychological Association. (2013). Guidelines for the practice of telepsychology.
768	Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/practice/guidelines/telepsychology.aspx
769	American Psychological Association. (2015). Professional practice guidelines: Guidance for
770	developers and users. American Psychologist, 70(9), 823-831.
771	American Psychological Association. (2018). Mission statement. Retrieved from
772	http://www.apa.org/about/
773	American Psychological Association Practice Organization. (Winter, 2015). Managing fallout
774	from online reviews. <i>Good Practice</i> , <i>6</i> ,7-20.
775	Barnett, J. E. (2008). The ethical practice of psychotherapy: Easily within our reach. Journal of
776	Clinical Psychology, 64(5), 569-575.
777	Bratt, W. (2010). Ethical Considerations of Social Networking for Counsellors/Considérations
778	morales de gestion de réseau sociale pour des conseillers. Canadian Journal of

779	Counselling and Psychotherapy (Online), 44(4), 335.
780	Cadwalladr, C. (March 18, 2018). 'I made Steve Bannon's psychological warfare tool': Meet the
781	data war whistleblower. The Guardian. Retrieved from
782	https://www.theguardian.com/news/2018/mar/17/data-war-whistleblower-lannin-
783	wylie-faceook-nix-bannon-trump
784	Chokshi, N. (Dec. 27, 2017). The Library of Congress no longer wants all the tweets. New York
785	Times. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2017/12/27/technology/library-
786	congress-tweets.html
787	Clinton, B. K., Silverman, B. C., & Brendel, D. H. (2010). Patient-targeted googling: The ethics of
788	searching online for patient information. Harvard Review of Psychiatry, 18(2), 103-112.
789	Cormode, G., & Krishnamurthy, B. (2008). Key differences between Web. 1.0 and Web 2.0. First
790	Monday, 13 (6).
791	DeLillo, D., & Gale, E.B. (2011). To Google or not to Google: Graduate students' use of the
792	internet to access personal information about clients. Training and Education in
793	Professional Psychology, 5, 160-166.
794	Deloitte Center for Health Solutions. (2016). Improving health care efficiency with social,
795	mobile, analytics, and cloud.
796	Elkin, N. (2008). How America searches: Health and wellness. <i>Opinion Research Corporation:</i>
797	iCrossing, 1-17.
798	Ferguson, T. (2007). E-patients: How they can help us heal healthcare. Patient Advocacy for
799	Health Care Quality: Strategies for Achieving Patient-Centered Care, 93-150.

800	Fisher, C. B., & Oransky, M. (2008). Informed consent to psychotherapy: Protecting the dignity
801	and respecting the autonomy of patients. Journal of Clinical Psychology, 64(5), 576-588.
802	Food and Drug Administration (2018). Mobile medical applications. Retrieved from
803	https://www.fda.gov/medicaldevices/digitalhealth/mobilemedicalapplications/default.h
804	tm
805	Fox, Pew Internet & American Life Project (2004). Today's e-clients: Hunters and gatherers of
806	health information online.
807	Fuqua, D. R., Newman, J. L., Simpson, D. B., & Choi, N. (2012). Who is the client in organizational
808	consultation? Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research, 64(2), 108-118.
809	Gabbard, G. O., Kassaw, K. A., & Perez-Garcia, G. (2011). Professional boundaries in the era of
810	the Internet. Academic Psychiatry, 35(3), 168-174.
811	Health and Human Services. (2013). Business associate contracts: Sample business associate
812	agreement provisions. Retrieved from https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-
813	professionals/covered-entities/sample-business-associate-agreement-
814	provisions/index.html
815	Internet World Stats. (2018). Internet usage statistics. Retrieved from
816	http://www.internetworldstats.com/stats.htm
817	Kaslow, F. W., Patterson, T., & Gottlieb, M. (2011). Ethical dilemmas in psychologists accessing
818	Internet data: Is it justified?. Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 42(2), 105.
819	Keckley, P. H., & Hoffman, M. (2010). Social networks in health care: Communication,
820	collaboration and insights. Deloitte.

821	Kolmes, K. (2010). My private practice social media policy. Retrieved from
822	http://drkkolmes.com/social-media-policy/).
823	Kolmes, K. (2012). Social media in the future of professional psychology. <i>Professional</i>
824	Psychology: Research and Practice, 43(6), 606.
825	Kolmes, K. & Taube, D. O. (2014). Seeing and finding our clients on the Internet: Boundary
826	considerations in cyberspace. Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 45, 3-10.
827	Korda & Itani (2013). Harnessing social media for health promotion and behavior change.
828	Health Promotion Practice, 14 (1), 15-23.
829	Lehavot, K., Barnett, J. E., & Powers, D. (2010). Psychotherapy, professional relationships, and
830	ethical considerations in the myspace generation. Professional Psychology: Research and
831	Practice, 41(2), 160.
832	Ma, X. Hancock, J.T., & Naaman, M. (2016). Anonymity, intimacy and self-disclosure in social
833	media. Proceedings of the ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems
834	(CHI 2016), 3857-3869.
835	Malcomson, C. (2016). 5 examples of smart healthcare social media policies [Blog post].
836	Retrieved from https://blog.tslmarketing.com/medtech/smart-healthcare-social-media-
837	policies.
838	Martin-Joy, J. (2017). Introduction to the special section on the Goldwater Rule. Journal of
839	American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law, 45 (2), 223-227.
840	Merriam-Webster. (2018). Social media. Retrieved from https://www.merriam-
841	webster.com/dictionary/social%20media

842	Myers, S. B., Endres, M. A., Ruddy, M. E., & Zelikovsky, N. (2012). Psychology graduate training
843	in the era of online social networking. Training and Education in Professional
844	Psychology, 6(1), 28.
845	Oxford Dictionaries. (2018). Social media. Retrieved from
846	https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/us/social_media
847	Pew Research Center. (February, 2014). "The Web at 25." Retrieved from
848	http://www.pewinternet.org/2014/02/25/the-web-at-25-in-the-u-s
849	Pew Research Center. (2017). Social media fact sheet. Retrieved from
850	http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/social-media/
851	Price Waterhouse Coopers Health Research Institute. (2012.) Social media "likes" healthcare.
852	Retrieved from http://pwchealth.com/cgi-local/hregister.cgi/reg/health-care-social-
853	media-report.pdf
854	Obar, J. A., & Wildman, S. (2015). Social media definition and the governance challenge: An
855	introduction to the special issue. <i>Telecommunications Policy, 39</i> (9), 745–750.
856	Qian, H. & Scott, C. R. (2007). Anonymity and self-disclosure on weblogs. Journal of Computer-
857	Mediated Communication, 12 (4), 1428-1451.
858	Stewart, D. (Ed.). (2017). Social media and the law: A guidebook for communication students
859	and professionals. Taylor & Francis.
860	Tunick, R. A., Mednick, L., & Conroy, C. (2011). A snapshot of child psychologists' social media
861	activity: Professional and ethical practice implications and recommendations.
862	Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 42(6), 440.

United States. (2004). The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA).

Washington, D.C.: U.S. Dept. of Labor, Employee Benefits Security Administration.

Zur, O. (2009). Therapeutic boundaries and effective therapy: Exploring the

relationships. *Handbook of Contemporary Psychotherapy*, 341-357.

867

863

864

865

866

¹ Optimal social media use in professional psychological practice was completed by the Committee on Professional Practice and Standards (COPPS), in consultation with the Board of Professional Affairs. Members of COPPS during the development of this document were (insert Chairs (by year); Members (by year); BPA liaison (by year). COPPS is grateful for the support and guidance of BPA, particularly to BPA Chairs (insert Chairs (by year). COPPS also acknowledges the consultation of (insert staff in Legal and Reg/other departments. COPPS extends its appreciation to the APA staff members who facilitated the work of COPPS: (insert Governance Operations staff).